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          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Good morning,

          3  everyone. Good morning. Today is Tuesday, November

          4  21st, 2006. It's about 10:13 a.m. Today the

          5  Education Committee is holding an oversight hearing

          6  on the Department of Education's non-competitive

          7  contracting practices.

          8                 And before we begin this formal

          9  hearing, let me just introduce my colleagues that

         10  are present today, from, starting on my left,

         11  Melinda Katz of Queens, Domenic Recchia of Brooklyn,

         12  John Liu of Queens, Simcha Felder to my right of

         13  Brooklyn. In front of me, Miguel Martinez of

         14  Manhattan, and approaching us, Jessica Lappin of

         15  Manhattan.

         16                 There is a Land Use Committee next

         17  door, and many of my colleagues, including myself,

         18  must vote on items of Land Use, so you will see us

         19  moving back and forth between Committees.

         20                 We have some guests with us this

         21  morning. We have a group with approximately 35

         22  participants in our YES Program, and they are taking

         23  a tour of City Hall and attending today's hearing

         24  and they're up in the balcony.

         25                 Good morning, and welcome. I'm going
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          2  to ask your forgiveness, I'm going to take a

          3  five-minute break because I need to vote, and

          4  everybody else here needs to vote next door. We'll

          5  be back in five minutes. Please forgive me.

          6                 Take a five-minute recess.

          7                 (Recess taken.)

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Good morning.

          9  Let me continue, please.

         10                 So, as I indicated, we have a group

         11  of young people up there involved in the YES

         12  Program. And you may say, well, what is the YES

         13  Program? The YES Program is the Department of Parks

         14  and Recreation has received a one-year grant to fund

         15  the expansion of the existing Park Opportunity

         16  Program, which is called POP, and this expansion

         17  effort called the Youth Engagement Services Program,

         18  YES, is targeted to young adults between the ages of

         19  18 and 20 years old, who are parenting and have

         20  active public assistant cases.

         21                 The Program's goals are to break the

         22  cycle of welfare and enhance educational attainment

         23  and remove barriers to employment through a

         24  collaborative effort of the Parks Department, the

         25  Human Resource Administration, and a network of
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          2  community-based organizations.

          3                 And under the POP umbrella, the YES

          4  Program will provide skilled on-the-job training

          5  with education classes and intensive case management

          6  to assist trainees in becoming independent adults.

          7                 Our goal is to help the YES trainees

          8  close their PA cases and establish self-sufficiency

          9  through a combination of employment and education.

         10                 And in my opinion, that's what

         11  parents are about and that's what we, as adults,

         12  want for all young people for them to achieve

         13  whatever goals and objectives that they are seeking

         14  to obtain.

         15                 So, young people, keep your heads up

         16  and come and listen to this hearing today and work

         17  hard, and I'm sure that if you have that work ethic

         18  and keep focused, you know, you will attain all of

         19  your goals and objectives.

         20                 So, welcome aboard.

         21                 So, today we're here in part because

         22  of one contract. We are here in part because of one

         23  contract in particular, the contract entered into by

         24  the Department of Education in June of 2006 with

         25  Alvarez and Marsal, Public Sector Services, LLC, for
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          2  a sum of approximately $15.7 million.

          3                 This contract generated a lot of

          4  controversy, in part because of the exorbitantly

          5  high fees that the consultants are charging, and it

          6  was a no-bid contract.

          7                 The A&M Consultants have been hired

          8  to find cost savings in the Department of

          9  Education's budget, and for this they are being paid

         10  anywhere between $275 to $450 per hour, plus an

         11  additional $1.5 million for expenses.

         12                 And when you see them numbered like

         13  that, and when you take into account that the fact

         14  that this contract did not go through a public

         15  bidding process, it makes you and makes me very

         16  uncomfortable. So, needless to say, we are planning

         17  to ask questions about this contract, and why it was

         18  not competitively bid. But we also want to ask

         19  questions about the Department of Education's

         20  contracting practices more generally, especially as

         21  they relate to no-bid contracting.

         22                 The Department of Education operates

         23  differently from other City agencies in terms of

         24  procurement. Under the State law, the Chancellor is

         25  given the authority to develop policies and
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          2  procedures governing the Department of Education's

          3  procurement practices.

          4                 So, unlike other City agencies, the

          5  DOE does not have to follow the City's rules on

          6  public contracting. What this means is that there is

          7  virtually no oversight of the Department of

          8  Education's contracting practices, even though the

          9  Department of Education is the single largest

         10  purchaser of goods and services among City agencies.

         11                 This year, DOE plans to spend

         12  approximately $4.4 billion in contracting. Now, I

         13  don't want to start this hearing off on a negative

         14  note, but there are a few things that I have to

         15  mention before we get started.

         16                 I approached the Department of

         17  Education over two months ago, and asked for a

         18  meeting to discuss the Alvarez and Marsal Contract.

         19  Before that, I requested certain information

         20  regarding the Alvarez's and Marsal's contract. First

         21  informally, then formally through a Freedom of

         22  Information request, which is called "FOIL."

         23                 At that first meeting, I told Deputy

         24  Chancellor Kathleen Grimm that I would consider

         25  dropping the FOIL if the Department of Education
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          2  were to provide me with the information I requested.

          3                 And let me tell you what that

          4  information was. It was basically information

          5  pertaining to any analysis undertaken by the

          6  Department of Education on A&M and deciding to award

          7  the June 2006 contract.

          8                 The FOIL was sent to the Department

          9  of Education on September 15th, 2006. Guess when I

         10  received the response? Not until November 15th.

         11                 And guess what the response said? It

         12  said my request with regards to this information

         13  were rejected because they constitute interagency

         14  communications.

         15                 Not only was this response way more

         16  than the 20 days late, which is the time allotted

         17  under the State law to respond to a FOIL, a Freedom

         18  of Information Request, but what it tells me is that

         19  the Department of Education is not being forthcoming

         20  at all about how it lets these contracts.

         21                 And that's exactly why it's so

         22  important that we have a mechanism in place so that

         23  there is some public oversight over these contracts.

         24                 And as far as I'm concerned, that

         25  mechanism should be the same one that applies to
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          2  other City agencies.

          3                 And, so, I am going to ask the

          4  Department of Education today, why it won't

          5  voluntarily follow the New York City Procurement

          6  Policy Board's rules on public contracting.

          7                 The bottom line here is that in New

          8  York City we are operating in an environment of

          9  extremely scarce resources where every penny is

         10  precious.

         11                 Most of you know that I have been

         12  fighting for 13 years to get more money from the

         13  State of New York for our schools. Just yesterday

         14  the Court of Appeals ruled in the CFE case that the

         15  State was obligated to give New York City minimally

         16  $1.93 billion in 2004 dollars to the kids of New

         17  York City, even though we were requesting $5.63

         18  billion, that's what many, many independent

         19  observers said it would cost to provide the children

         20  of New York City an opportunity for a sound, basic

         21  education.

         22                 And I know that my colleagues at the

         23  Council will agree with me when I say that we have

         24  to account for every dollar, especially when those

         25  dollars go to high-priced private consultants, who
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          2  as far as I can see, are doing work that the

          3  Department of Education should probably be able to

          4  do with the staff that they already have.

          5                 So, with that being said, I would

          6  like to turn to our first witness, the Deputy

          7  Chancellor of Finance and Administration, Kathleen

          8  Grimm. And before I do that, let me just introduce

          9  my other colleagues that have joined us this

         10  morning.

         11                 To my far left is Council Member Lew

         12  Fidler. I introduced Domenic Recchia earlier, John

         13  Liu, Andrew Lanza of Staten Island who is State

         14  Senator-elect and will be taking office January 1st

         15  as the next State Senator representing his area. And

         16  Al Vann from Brooklyn. And Oliver Koppell from the

         17  Bronx. Forgive me, Oliver. Simcha Felder, Melinda

         18  Katz in front, and Miguel Martinez.

         19                 And with that, Deputy Chancellor,

         20  good morning. And welcome.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Good

         22  morning. Thank you. I'm delighted to be here today,

         23  and I just want to introduce the people who are with

         24  me.

         25                 On my right is Michael Best, who is
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          2  General Counsel to the Chancellor and to the

          3  Department. And on my left, David Ross, who is our

          4  Director of Contracts and Purchasing in the

          5  Department.

          6                 So, indeed, let me say good morning

          7  to you, Chair Jackson, and to the members of the

          8  Education Committee.

          9                 I would like to acknowledge before I

         10  begin, Council Member Jackson, who has Chair of, as

         11  former Chair of the Counsel's Contracts Committee,

         12  has demonstrated an ongoing commitment to efficiency

         13  and transparency in the City's contracting process,

         14  a goal that the Department shares.

         15                 What I'd like to do this morning is

         16  to spend a little time talking about in general our

         17  procurement process, discuss a little bit our

         18  exception to bid process, and the categories

         19  involved in that, and then some time on the Alvarez

         20  contract.

         21                 The Department of Education delivers

         22  a wide range of goods and services to ensure the

         23  smooth operation of the school system.

         24                 With 80,000 teachers and over 1

         25  million children, there are diverse needs and a wide
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          2  array of services and commodities that are provided

          3  to our over 1,400 schools. We contract for supplies,

          4  such as textbooks, furniture, pencils for our

          5  students. We procure professional services, like

          6  training programs for staff. Furthermore, we have

          7  contracts for food service, transportation and

          8  administrative needs like copiers and computers.

          9  Virtually everything you can think of that makes our

         10  schools run.

         11                 On an annual basis we procure about

         12  $4.5 billion worth of goods and services. With the

         13  Children First Reform, the Department has moved

         14  toward greater efficiency, transparency and

         15  accountability in our work.

         16                 Our contracting processes are no

         17  exception to this reform.

         18                 Indeed, since the reorganization, we

         19  are now much better able to report how much money is

         20  being spent on which services and goods and the

         21  quality of those services and goods. We continue to

         22  implement new strategies to modernize and

         23  standardize our processes.

         24                 We have streamlined our contracting

         25  functions, while at the same time providing
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          2  procurement support at the school level to help

          3  principals preserve their spending autonomy.

          4                 For example, we now use web

          5  technology for contract information and tracking to

          6  assist schools and offices in securing professional

          7  services.

          8                 Before the Children First Reform,

          9  Central made allocations to the districts, which

         10  then made decisions about how funds were allocated

         11  to schools.

         12                 For the 2003/'04 year, as part of the

         13  Children First Reform, restructuring allocations

         14  were made direct to schools, providing schools with

         15  immediate access to resources. Indeed, our on-line

         16  budget system allowed schools to have quicker access

         17  to resources. It also allows principals to check

         18  their spending against their budgets in real time.

         19                 Perhaps the most significant increase

         20  in school level authority over purchasing for

         21  student needs, is the empowerment school initiative.

         22                 Principals at 330 plus empowerment

         23  schools have greater discretion over their budgets,

         24  and with that, over the educational programming,

         25  teacher development and hiring in their schools.
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          2                 Each one of these schools received an

          3  average of $100,000 in newly unrestricted funds and

          4  $150,000 in new discretionary funds, all made

          5  possible by streamlining the central and regional

          6  DOE bureaucracy, and redirecting financial resources

          7  back into the schools.

          8                 Principals will be able to allocate

          9  these funds to programs and services which they

         10  value, rather than paying for mandated programs and

         11  services.

         12                 Throughout the Children First Reform,

         13  and the Empowerment School Initiative, we have

         14  remained strongly committed to a contracting process

         15  that is both transparent and accountable.

         16                 At the same time, like any well-run

         17  organization or agency, we cannot let the process

         18  become so paralyzing as to restrict us from

         19  responding quickly and efficiently to emerging

         20  needs.

         21                 Assuring flexibility in a controlled

         22  process when it is required enables us to reach our

         23  goals.

         24                 One component of this flexibility I

         25  would like to talk about a little this morning, and
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          2  that is what we refer to as our exception to bid

          3  process.

          4                 To give you some context, there are

          5  two charts here. The first chart shows for Fiscal

          6  Year '06, the entire operating Department's --

          7  operating budget of the Department which is roughly

          8  $15 billion.

          9                 The OTPS, the money we used for the

         10  purchase of goods and services is four-and-a-half

         11  billion dollars. That's 29 percent of the whole

         12  budget.

         13                 On the second chart you can see that

         14  entire OTPS, the money spent through exception to

         15  bids is less than three percent of everything that

         16  we spend on goods and services, and less than one

         17  percent of our total budget.

         18                 So, while it's a small part of what

         19  we do, the exception to bid contracts are and will

         20  remain a necessary important and continuing part of

         21  our contracting process. While there are several

         22  reasons that we enter into these contracts, we want

         23  to emphasize the quality and uniqueness of service

         24  in each one of them.

         25                 For example, if there is a
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          2  professional development cause for our teachers, or

          3  a math textbook for our students that is clearly

          4  different from and superior to others that are

          5  available, we want to be able to proceed so that our

          6  teachers and students can start realizing the

          7  benefits of these goods.

          8                 In this process we scrutinize both

          9  the need for and the value we would get from any

         10  non-competitive contract award.

         11                 We have a committee, known as the

         12  Committee on Contracts, with representatives from

         13  several of the major DOE departments, which

         14  carefully reviews every such request for an award.

         15                 Any request with insufficient

         16  justification for an exception to bid are rejected

         17  by the Committee and the requesters are told that a

         18  competitive procurement must be made.

         19                 If there is ample justification for

         20  an exception, a thorough cost price review is then

         21  performed by professional staff who specialize in

         22  this kind of analysis.

         23                 In addition, prior to proceeding with

         24  securing any of these contracts, notice that the

         25  Department is considering the award is posted in the
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          2  City Record. A procedure, I would add, that mirrors

          3  the process taken by other City agencies.

          4                 I'd like to spend a little time on

          5  the specifics of the contracts that were awarded

          6  pursuant to the exception to bid process in Fiscal

          7  Year '06.

          8                 Total amount of the spend for the

          9  contracts that year is 114 million. One category

         10  representing nearly 20 percent is something we call

         11  the vendor-specific grants. This funding went to

         12  contracts for which vendors, the vendor was

         13  proscribed in a grant, and in fact includes some

         14  contracts funded by the City Council.

         15                 United Way of New York City, which

         16  administers contracts for local community-based

         17  organization services, is the largest among these at

         18  nearly $16 million. Other grants are worthy of

         19  mention.

         20                 Take The Field, a well-recognized

         21  not-for-profit organization founded by the late

         22  Preston Robert Tisch to renovate our school athletic

         23  fields, was specifically designated by the City

         24  Council to receive funds and its contract with the

         25  DOE was conditioned upon the award of those funds
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          2  from the City Council.

          3                 Another not-for-profit, M.O.U.S.E.,

          4  provides technical support training to our teachers

          5  and our students and helps students gain entry into

          6  information technology careers.

          7                 To continue this very successful City

          8  Council-funded program, a contract with M.O.U.S.E.

          9  was extended, again, as an exception to bid.

         10                 The largest category in our exception

         11  to bid, 26 million spent in '06, 23 percent of the

         12  entire category, went to contractors pursuant either

         13  to a collective bargaining requirement, a legal

         14  mandate, or an RFP third-party that is running its

         15  own competitive procurement process for us.

         16                 For example, we used an RFP to select

         17  an insurance broker and then the broker conducted

         18  its own competitive process to identify bus

         19  insurance companies. The broker's recommendations

         20  were then reviewed by the Committee to validate its

         21  findings, since the procurement process itself was

         22  not managed by DOE.

         23                 Another 22 percent of the contracts,

         24  $25 million spent, were awarded by way of

         25  competitive process, mostly RFP, which we added
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          2  extensions.

          3                 A recent example was a $3 million to

          4  various information technology professional service

          5  companies because we were in the process of doing

          6  mini bids on a State contract, but we could not have

          7  a lapse in service, so we did four-month extensions.

          8                 So, the Committee is always in these

          9  cases focused on short-term solutions awaiting the

         10  longer term competitive process.

         11                 19.6 went to other mainly one-time

         12  contracts. This includes the Alvarez and Marsal

         13  contract, that has garnered much attention in the

         14  media, to which I shall return momentarily. Another

         15  $3 million went for two dozen universal pre-k

         16  vendors, we did not have time to do RFPs because the

         17  State money for this, we didn't have notice of it

         18  until very late in the spring and there was not time

         19  to do the RFP process to have in place by September.

         20  If we did not have the ability to move quickly in

         21  extraordinary cases like this, in this particular

         22  case, over a thousand young children would have been

         23  at risk of having no pre-kindergarten program in

         24  September.

         25                 The remaining 18 percent of these
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          2  contracts, including 9 million in technical

          3  exchanges to already competitively awarded

          4  contracts, and 5 million for an emergency contract.

          5                 I'd like to now turn my attention to

          6  the Alvarez and Marsal contract.

          7                 The Department indeed is committed to

          8  buying goods and services by way of a competitive

          9  process whenever feasible and appropriate.

         10                 However, as it is clear from looking

         11  at the critical services we purchased through the

         12  exception to bid, sometimes the competitive process

         13  would be counterproductive to the overall needs of

         14  the City and its students.

         15                 Such was the case with the A&M

         16  contract. DOE hired A&M to help us execute projects

         17  that were time-sensitive and critical to our reform

         18  efforts, including budget reductions and the

         19  implementation of a platform on which central and

         20  regional offices can sell services that empowerment

         21  schools can buy.

         22                 We needed these efforts to be

         23  implemented by September for the beginning of the

         24  school year.

         25                 A&M, I want to point out, had unique
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          2  expertise in school system transformation and

          3  intensive prior engagement with the New York City

          4  schools, making them uniquely situated to provide

          5  these services to the Department.

          6                 A little background. A&M is the

          7  global professional services firm specializing in

          8  turn-around management, restructuring and a range of

          9  corporate advisory services.

         10                 In 2003, A&M began to service the

         11  public and not-for-profit sectors, including

         12  federal, state, municipal and public school

         13  entities.

         14                 Since then, A&M has become a leader

         15  in providing turn around management and

         16  restructuring help for the public sector.

         17                 They are the only firm to have done

         18  this type of work with public school systems.

         19                 In 2003, A&M was hired to complete a

         20  corporate restructuring of the St. Louis Public

         21  School System where they were the first turn-around

         22  and restructuring firm selected to run a public

         23  school district in the United States.

         24                 A&M generated significant cost

         25  savings for the St. Louis system without reducing
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          2  teacher headcount, and they did so while the school

          3  district increased reading levels and reduced the

          4  percentage of at-risk students.

          5                 In 2005, A&M was hired to oversee and

          6  implement a fiscal overhaul of the New Orleans

          7  public schools. There, saddled with the aftermath of

          8  Hurricane Katrina, A&M became a leading force in the

          9  restructuring of the school system.

         10                 A&M has also worked with the

         11  Department of Education on two prior engagements

         12  supported by private funding, giving their team deep

         13  and broad knowledge of the DOE.

         14                 During those engagements, A&M helped

         15  develop greater fiscal transparency and

         16  effectiveness around school spending and worked

         17  alongside DOE staff to redesign the DOE budget.

         18                 As part of this work, A&M helped the

         19  DOE take into account trend analysis, and utilize

         20  more timely, accurate, cost-driver information in

         21  budgeting; helped improve budget operations,

         22  communications, training and information exchange,

         23  and trained over 100 DOE personnel in the

         24  development and use of monthly fiscal resource

         25  reporting to drive decision-making and policy
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          2  formation.

          3                 A&M also did functional reviews at

          4  key DOE offices, including central and regional

          5  teaching and learning, central and regional youth

          6  and development, youth development, and regional

          7  operation centers.

          8                 These functional reviews map the

          9  organizations, their contracts and services, created

         10  steady state plans and recommended cost savings

         11  opportunities, a 2007 budget, and a purchase service

         12  matrix.

         13                 As a result of their prior work in

         14  New York City, A&M's work in other school districts

         15  and their prior experience in the public and

         16  not-for-profit sectors, A&M was uniquely positioned

         17  to provide the services DOE needed.

         18                 Even among other arguably qualified

         19  providers, there was no other firm that would have

         20  been equipped and ready to hit the ground running

         21  within the time frame required to avoid significant

         22  and potential costly delays in achieving the goals

         23  that are central to the Chancellor's agenda.

         24                 I will add, we are actually very

         25  grateful to the City Comptroller's Office, because
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          2  when we determined that it made the most sense, in

          3  terms of the uniqueness of this company and the time

          4  frame that we were working in to do an exception to

          5  bid, we did reach out to the Comptroller's Office

          6  and they, as you know, have been most cooperative

          7  with us in trying to change some of the policies and

          8  procedures in the Department.

          9                 As always, they urged us to be as

         10  transparent as possible in this process, urged us to

         11  mirror as best we could, negotiated procurements by

         12  the City. As a result of that conversation and that

         13  advice, we advertise the potential contract award in

         14  the City record.

         15                 I would note that we received no

         16  notice of interest from any competitor when we did

         17  this advertising of our intent to have the Committee

         18  on Contracts consider the award. To us a sheer

         19  indication that no other firm was interested or able

         20  to do the work that A&M had offered to do.

         21                 In addition, of course, this contract

         22  was approved and registered by the Comptroller.

         23                 In addition, the DOE negotiated fair

         24  and reasonable fees with A&M, as indicated by the

         25  following benchmarks. The hourly rates being charged
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          2  to the DOE are 15 to 35 percent lower than A&M's

          3  competitively bid prices for large scale commercial

          4  restructuring and interim management engagements.

          5                 The federal government's scheduled

          6  rates for similar consulting firms, which reflect

          7  the price for work that is not as complicated or

          8  execution-oriented as the work that A&M is doing for

          9  us, are higher than the rates A&M is charging. And I

         10  think most significantly, A&M's rates, for us,

         11  compare favorably to the rates they agreed to in

         12  their contract with the St. Louis public schools in

         13  June of 2002.

         14                 So, given A&M's unique ability to

         15  help us do this work, and given how pressing our

         16  needs are, it did not make sense to go through a

         17  lengthy competitive process that would have only

         18  caused several months of delay, time that the school

         19  children of New York City did not have to waste.

         20                 Alvarez and Marsal has already

         21  accomplished the following:

         22                 Eighty-nine million dollars in cost

         23  savings. More than 70 million of which went to new

         24  resources for schools an instructions. This money

         25  allowed the empowerment schools to hire 312 teachers

                                                            27

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  and 140 other professional staff.

          3                 It helped design and execute an

          4  administrative support structure to support the 330

          5  empowerment schools. That support structure is up to

          6  40 percent leaner than the regional structure

          7  replaced.

          8                 A&M helped conceive and implement a

          9  redesign of our youth development to offer more

         10  targeted focused to schools and to their at-risk

         11  children.

         12                 It developed functional department

         13  budgets for strategic planning and decision making.

         14                 It is developing cost-cutting

         15  measures that use busing facilities and energy

         16  resources more efficiently, and will allow DOE to

         17  redirect at least 40 million in annual savings to

         18  the schools.

         19                 It's supporting the Department and

         20  increasing of devolution of dollars and resulting

         21  authority from the central and regional bureaucracy

         22  to the principals in our schools.

         23                 We, therefore, are very proud of the

         24  Alvarez and Marsal contract. We have already met

         25  with Chair Jackson and his staff to thoroughly
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          2  review the details of the process. I hope this

          3  testimony gives you a better understanding of the

          4  Department's procurement policies, particularly the

          5  exception to bid process.

          6                 I want to reiterate that we have

          7  taken many steps to assure that we have an open,

          8  transparent process in place. My colleagues and I

          9  are here this morning, and we are more than willing

         10  to answer any questions you might have in this area.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you,

         13  Deputy Chancellor. We appreciate hearing from you

         14  this morning, especially on this topic regarding the

         15  area of no-bid contracts, and more specifically

         16  concerning the contract with A&M.

         17                 But before I begin my questioning,

         18  let me just reintroduce and introduce my colleagues

         19  that have joined us. Jessica Lappin I mentioned

         20  earlier. She is to my left. In front of me, directly

         21  in front of me is Yvette Clarke from Brooklyn.

         22                 On the front row to the left, David

         23  Yassky of Brooklyn. Helen Diane Foster in front of

         24  me, a little bit to my right, and Dan Garodnick of

         25  Manhattan in front to my left.
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          2                 Also, we have been joined by the

          3  Chairperson of the New York State Assembly Education

          4  Committee, Cathy Nolan. She is in the audience

          5  there. She is my colleague at the State level who

          6  chairs the education of the State Assembly, along

          7  with my colleague Peter Vallone, Jr., to my left

          8  here of Queens.

          9                 Regarding the non-competitively-bid

         10  contracts, let me just ask one or two questions, if

         11  you don't mind?

         12                 For each fiscal year since 2002, how

         13  many non-competitive contracts has the Department of

         14  Education had in place? And what is the total value

         15  of those contracts in each fiscal year?

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The number

         17  varies depending on what the need is. In fiscal

         18  year, I do not have information for Fiscal Year '02.

         19  I do have information from Fiscal Year '03, which

         20  was the first year we were here.

         21                 In Fiscal Year '03, the contracts

         22  totaled 153 million. The number of contracts, 121.

         23                 In '04, 127 million, 80 contracts.

         24  So, there were fewer.

         25                 In '05, the annual amount of the

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  contracts was 189 million, 28 contracts.

          3                 In Fiscal Year '06, 114 million

          4  spent, for 65 contracts.

          5                 So, the numbers, both in terms of the

          6  number of contracts and the dollar amounts

          7  fluctuate.

          8                 A significant impact of last years,

          9  where we had very, very few contracts that actually

         10  went through this, but a very large dollar figure,

         11  reflect the fact that, I believe that was the year

         12  we did the bus contracts. You recall we had to do

         13  that through State legislation and then also, even

         14  though we had State legislation to do that contract,

         15  in the interest of making sure we're putting

         16  everything through this process, it went through the

         17  Committee.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And how many of

         19  those contracts, if you can indicate for each fiscal

         20  year, were valued at $100,000 or more?

         21                 Because I know that $100,000 or more

         22  is a certain threshold.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: All of them.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: All of them.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We have used
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          2  that threshold.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You used that

          4  threshold.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And I assume

          7  that there are many other ones that are under that

          8  threshold; is that correct?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes, that

         10  would be correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Do you have a

         12  rounded off number as to the number of those

         13  underneath the threshold?

         14                 Now, we know what's above the

         15  threshold, but what the total amount below the

         16  threshold and above the threshold, for example, in

         17  Fiscal Year '03, was that total amount $153 million?

         18  Or that's just a total amount for the contracts

         19  above the $100 threshold?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That's above

         21  the 100,000. I don't have the data with me on under

         22  100,000, but we could certainly provide that to you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Because I was

         24  asking for the total amount of money for

         25  non-competitive contracts.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We'll have

          3  to provide that. We focused only on the over

          4  100,000.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Yes, and I

          6  appreciate you focusing in on the threshold of

          7  $100,000 or more, but I would really like to know,

          8  in that context, the total number of contracts and

          9  total amount of money of non-competitive contracts.

         10  I can see that in context to the threshold of 100k,

         11  and as per the numbers that you gave me for Fiscal

         12  Year '03, '04, '05 and '06; is that okay?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That's

         14  perfectly okay. We'd be happy to do that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. On June

         16  30th, 2006, can you please explain why the

         17  Department of Education needed to hire Alvarez &

         18  Marsal to find budgetary savings and structuring,

         19  planning? And why such work could not be done by the

         20  Department of Education's staff, perhaps in

         21  consultation with the Mayoral staff and the Office

         22  of Management and Budget, since that's a huge

         23  organization in itself?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, part

         25  of the reason is that the daily workload of the
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          2  people at the Department of Education is indeed

          3  heavy. But also it certainly made sense to the

          4  Chancellor to have outside eyes come in and take a

          5  look at what we're doing.

          6                 We also were able to take advantage

          7  of certain analytical skills that A&M has that we

          8  don't have. And they were skills and resources the

          9  Chancellor didn't want to build into the Department

         10  and build up a bigger bureaucracy, because what he

         11  wanted was a shorter term review of all of our

         12  functionality by this outside group that would

         13  obviously go away after they had done all the

         14  analysis and we had implemented the recommendations

         15  that the Chancellor chose to implement.

         16                 So, it's really very often not just

         17  in government but in all businesses, there are times

         18  in your organizational cycles that you need to have

         19  outside people come in and help. It happens all the

         20  time in various areas throughout City agencies.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, that's an

         22  explanation, but the Office of Management and Budget

         23  is a huge City agency, and part -- not part, their

         24  responsibility is to manage the budget, and now that

         25  the Department of Education, as a City agency, they
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          2  have staff in order to monitor agencies and

          3  departments and to make recommendations to agencies

          4  of the departments and to determine their budgets.

          5                 So, from my perspective as a member

          6  of the City Council, that is the point agency that

          7  all agencies under the Mayor are supposed to turn to

          8  for expertise.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: And I assure

         10  you, I turn to them very often, and they are very,

         11  very helpful. But you used the word monitor. They do

         12  monitor. They do help. They do make suggestions. But

         13  what we had with A&M is a group of people who had

         14  tremendous depth and breadth in their knowledge of

         15  how the Department of Education works on the ground

         16  because of the prior two stints that they had spent

         17  with us. It's a breadth and depth that even our

         18  distinguished colleagues at OMB do not have because

         19  they are monitoring and working on the budgets of

         20  all City agencies.

         21                 So, these are not just budget people

         22  who are looking at our budget. They are coming in

         23  and looking at our processes, our staffing, and they

         24  are here to help us implement those initiatives that

         25  the Chancellor decides we're going to go forward
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          2  with.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, you're

          4  clearly explaining why you, the Department of

          5  Education, feels that A&M is so qualified based on

          6  their prior stint or contract with the City of New

          7  York, more specifically with the Department of

          8  Education. But their tenure, their time here in New

          9  York City, is very limited; isn't that true? I mean,

         10  how long have they been in New York City with the

         11  Department of Education?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, they

         13  were with us on two prior stints, as I said. One,

         14  the first one had to do with looking at our budget.

         15                 As you know, the City budget is while

         16  a wonderful creation of the '75 fiscal crisis, it

         17  can be sometimes very opaque.

         18                 So, they were very helpful to us in

         19  terms of analyzing our budget, kind of translating U

         20  of A's into plain English so that the departments

         21  within the DOE could better understand and better

         22  understand their departments.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: When was that?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Oh, it was

         25  probably in '04. But I can confirm those dates for

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: The point that

          4  I'm making only is that you say that they have

          5  extensive experience or working with New York City

          6  Department of Education, they've only been here at

          7  the most two years.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes, but --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And whereas New

         10  York City, when we're talking about New York City

         11  Department of Education, New York City Department of

         12  Education is not like any other educational system

         13  in the country. It is the largest. It has 1.1

         14  million students. And in fact, the budget people an

         15  the financial and/or other analysts here, they know

         16  about New York City. So, one of my questions to you

         17  is, you know, prior to you going out and asking,

         18  awarding this contract by A&M, did you reach out to

         19  OMB and say, listen, we want to look at

         20  restructuring things and what have you and so forth,

         21  and do you have the staff and help us do that; did

         22  you ask them that prior to going out and doing this

         23  non-competitive contract?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I certainly

         25  discussed our going forward with this contract with
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          2  OMB, but if I could just finish explaining the

          3  nature of the work, these people during this first

          4  engagement, they had staff with us for months and

          5  months and months on the ground in the budget

          6  office, out in the regional offices, understanding

          7  what the numbers are, what the programs were, what

          8  the spend was.

          9                 On the second engagement, this is

         10  when they identified savings of $89 million that we

         11  were able to redistribute to the schools, primarily,

         12  and also to the support structure around the

         13  schools.

         14                 I mean, $89 million, that is a

         15  tremendous accomplishment. In six months they had 20

         16  people here every day long into the night working

         17  shoulder-to-shoulder with us. So they have a depth

         18  of understanding of how we function. But, no, I have

         19  been a monitor, monitoring agencies can't -- they

         20  don't go down that deeply.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, I

         22  appreciate your response, but let me just say that

         23  -- let me just ask this question: Going back to the

         24  issue of A&M, their prior work with DOE, Section 11

         25  of the June 2006 contract, between the Department of
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          2  Education and A&M which is called, "Confidentiality

          3  and publication of records," specifically refers to

          4  two prior contracts between DOE, the Fund for Public

          5  Schools, and A&M. The contract reads: "Pursuant to

          6  the contract dated March 7th, 2005, among the

          7  contractor, the Fund and the DOE, and the contract

          8  dated January 23rd, 2006, among the contractor, the

          9  Fund and DOE."

         10                 Those are the words coming right out

         11  of the contract. Yet, you have said that the DOE did

         12  not have any formal agreement with A&M, the June

         13  30th contract, and that prior to two A&M engagements

         14  with DOE were arranged solely by the Fund.

         15                 So, I'm trying to understand. I'm

         16  trying to understand and be clear as far as what you

         17  are saying, you know, with respect to what you have

         18  said to me, the Education staff, when you have met

         19  with us, and what you're saying now in order to

         20  receive, quote, what we all are looking for,

         21  transparency and accountability.

         22                 So, are there in fact two contracts

         23  with A&M, DOE and the Fund, dated March 7th, 2005

         24  and January 23rd, 2006?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There are
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          2  contracts between A&M and the Fund. There was no

          3  formal contract with the Department of Education,

          4  because no Department of Education money was spent

          5  on those engagements.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Then why is it

          7  in the contract of June 2006, it makes clear

          8  reference to the contracts which says that DOE, the

          9  Fund and the contractor are all parties to the

         10  agreement?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We were a

         12  beneficiary to the agreement, not a signing partner.

         13                 The nature of the agreement between

         14  the Department -- between the Fund and A&M was such

         15  that the A&M people were going to come and work with

         16  us.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, would you

         18  please provide us an all due transparency and

         19  accountability, would you provide us copies of those

         20  contracts? All of the contracts concerning A&M, and

         21  the contracts between the Fund, of public schools

         22  and -- let me just finish. I wanted to wait until

         23  you finished consulting with your counsel.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Would you please
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          2  provide us with whatever contracts you, DOE had,

          3  with A&M, one? And number two, any contracts that

          4  you may have, even that you received as a

          5  beneficiary of a contract between A&M and this Fund

          6  of the City of New York, in order to have to be

          7  transparent, because you talked about that all

          8  through your testimony, and accountability. I assume

          9  that you have nothing to hide, if, in fact, the

         10  children of New York City were a beneficiary of this

         11  contract between A&M and the Fund for public

         12  schools, can you please provide us with copies of

         13  all of that?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, we can

         15  certainly provide you with a -- I thought we had,

         16  with a copy of the contract that we have, which the

         17  Department has with A&M.

         18                 What we have, the earlier contracts

         19  were contracts with the Fund, not with the

         20  Department.

         21                 I'm pleased to provide you, and I

         22  think we have certainly met with your staff and gone

         23  through the kind of work product that we have from

         24  A&M, in terms of the work they did particularly in

         25  identifying the $89 million in savings, and that
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          2  we'd be happy to provide.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Does the

          4  Department of Education have a copy of the contract

          5  between the Fund for the public schools and A&M?

          6  Does DOE have a copy of that?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't have

          8  it. I imagine it's at the Fund.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Does the

         10  Chancellor have a copy of that in the file?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't

         12  know.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, I'm going

         14  to ask you to find out, in order to deal with

         15  transparency, I assume that you would want us to

         16  have a copy of anything that the Department of

         17  Education has with respects to that so that we can

         18  see what the agreement was, because specifically the

         19  current contract of June 2006 makes clear reference

         20  to the Department of Education, the contractor and

         21  the Fund as being parties to a contract.

         22                 CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That is correct.

         23  And certainly I think you do have the contract I

         24  think the Department has, because it's under that

         25  contract that we are going to be spending
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          2  Department, therefore City dollars. That should be

          3  as transparent as possible to you.

          4                 We are also more than happy to share

          5  with you all of the work products. All of the

          6  results, the outputs that we have in terms of the

          7  work, the savings that A&M was able to do. It's that

          8  kind of effort that we took into consideration in

          9  identifying this company as extraordinarily unique

         10  to do this work for us.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So let me just

         12  ask you, whatever contract currently DOE has with

         13  A&M, you have provided that to our staff already; is

         14  that correct?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I believe we

         16  have. And if we haven't, we'll have it to you this

         17  afternoon.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Because I

         20  think it's very important to us that we as best as

         21  possible explain to you how clear it was that this

         22  company was uniquely situated to do this work.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. And then

         24  I'm going to ask you, Deputy Chancellor, if you

         25  don't mind, would you please confer with Chancellor
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          2  Joel Klein and ask him whether or not he has a copy

          3  as a beneficiary on behalf of the children of New

          4  York City that contract between A&M and the Fund,

          5  what is called the -- is it called the Fund?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: For public

          7  schools.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: For public

          9  schools.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Absolutely.

         11  Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: My understanding

         13  is, is Joel Klein a member of that Fund?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: He is the

         15  Chair of the Fund.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: He is the Chair.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: So, I'm sure

         18  he has a copy.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, I assume

         20  then he has a copy of that; is that correct?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: As Chair he

         22  must, yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, I'm going

         24  to ask that you provide us a copy with that. Could

         25  you ask the Chancellor?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I will do

          3  that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I appreciate

          5  that. I assume that the Chancellor wants to

          6  cooperate with us fully, and as a Chair of the Fund,

          7  that he will provide us with that contract.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: His

          9  instructions to me are always to cooperate fully.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: We appreciate

         11  that.

         12                 Last month I sent you a letter

         13  requesting an explanation of the $89 million in

         14  savings that the Department of Education has claimed

         15  that A&M found during their term of its January

         16  23rd, 2006 contract. And I asked for a response no

         17  later than November 6th, but as of yet, meaning

         18  today, November 21st, I have not received a

         19  response.

         20                 Do you have a response today for me?

         21  And if not, can you explain why not?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I apologize

         23  that you don't have that information. You should. I

         24  thought we had shared it with your staff. If you

         25  haven't, I apologize. We'll have it to you this
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          2  afternoon.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes, I met with

          4  my staff this morning prior to this hearing and as

          5  of this morning, they did not have a response. So...

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We'll

          7  follow-up up with that, because clearly the intent

          8  was to make sure they had that.

          9                 What we have, so that everyone knows

         10  what it is, is that it is a summary document in

         11  showing the dollars saved in the various regional

         12  offices and the very central offices totaling the 89

         13  million. Then we took a portion of that money in

         14  order to construct the new support services for the

         15  empowerment schools.

         16                 We have approximately 20 schools that

         17  report to a network that support all of those

         18  schools. And then we have what is called an

         19  integrated service center that provides business

         20  services to the network in support of the schools.

         21  And it's a 40 percent leaner operation than the

         22  current regional ROC operation that we have in place

         23  for the regional schools. And we were assisted in

         24  both locating the savings and in structuring the new

         25  organization by A&M. Most of the money went directly
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          2  into the schools.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: If you

          5  recall, in the over 300 empowerment schools, we were

          6  able to give each of the schools an additional

          7  $150,000 and that's part of that money.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Deputy

          9  Chancellor, you said that the proposed savings was

         10  $89 million.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The annual

         12  savings is $89 million.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Can you

         14  please provide us with a copy of A&M's analysis of

         15  whatever they did and their recommended actions that

         16  you take in order to save $89 million?

         17                 Can you provide that to us so we can

         18  look at that? Because quite frankly, you know, it's

         19  easy to talk, but I want to know, especially since

         20  we're questioning the no-bid contractor, this

         21  contractor, I want to see as a member of the City

         22  Council, some of their work products. I want to see

         23  their analysis. I want to see their recommendation

         24  to DOE that's going to save $89 million to determine

         25  whether or not that is realistic, as far as cost
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          2  savings.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Absolutely.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So you can

          5  provide that to us?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We can show

          7  you where the savings is coming from. Absolutely.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: No, I don't want

          9  you to show me the savings. I want you to give me a

         10  copy of their report to you, which says, recommends

         11  to you what action to take to save that $89 million.

         12  Can you provide that?

         13                 MR. BEST: Councilman --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: One second, Mr.

         15  Best. Let me finish my question.

         16                 MR. BEST: I'm trying to answer your

         17  question. But I'll be happy to --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me finish

         19  asking my question.

         20                 Can you provide us that report from

         21  A&M to DOE which recommends $89 million in annual

         22  savings?

         23                 MR. BEST: As the Deputy Chancellor

         24  said, we'll be happy to provide the Committee with

         25  an explanation of what the savings are to be
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          2  implemented.

          3                 If what you're asking for,

          4  Chairperson Jackson, is other documents, proposals

          5  by A&M that the Chancellor may have considered, may

          6  have accepted, may have rejected, we don't believe

          7  it's appropriate to provide that to the Committee,

          8  for the reason that there is always a need in the

          9  operation of any organization, particularly in

         10  government agencies for decision-makers to get

         11  advice from staff and consultants candidly and

         12  privately.

         13                 The decisions that got made as to

         14  what savings would be implemented that result in the

         15  $89 million in savings, are decisions the Chancellor

         16  made.

         17                 Other recommendations that a

         18  consultant made to the Chancellor, or to frankly

         19  anybody at the DOE, are, in our view, not

         20  appropriate for us to give out, because it would

         21  undermined our ability to make decisions in a candid

         22  manner. That is exactly why the Freedom of

         23  Information Law exempts interagency communications

         24  from disclosure under FOIL, it's exactly why there

         25  is an executive and decision-making privilege in the
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          2  courts on testimony and we're going to adhere to

          3  that in regard to the information that we're going

          4  to provide.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, let me

          6  say, Mr. Best, I'm not an attorney but I disagree

          7  with you. That's not interagency sub. This is a

          8  contractor that you hired that's making report to

          9  you, DOE, and when you talk about transparency, so

         10  that everyone can see a report by a contractor that

         11  we're paying millions of dollars, if we, members of

         12  the City Council, don't have an opportunity to have

         13  oversight on that, who does? Who has it? Who has

         14  oversight to see whether or not our money is being

         15  well spent? If, in fact, I don't believe you, in

         16  essence, you're going to show me the outcomes, the

         17  outcomes are to be seen down the road if, in fact,

         18  they occur. But I want to see the report that was

         19  issued. I mean, we're paying for a contract, and we

         20  can't see the report that's issued as a result for

         21  paying for that contract; is that what you're

         22  telling me?

         23                 MR. BEST: It's hardly uncommon in the

         24  government world, and this is true of every City

         25  agency, every State agency that is subject to New

                                                            50

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  York Freedom of Information Law, for agencies to

          3  hire consultants, for consultants to make

          4  recommendations to the agency, and to those

          5  recommendations to be private and not disclosed.

          6                 It's well established under the

          7  Freedom of Information Law. It's a well-established

          8  exception to the disclosure under that law, and

          9  frankly, I don't think there is anything remarkable

         10  about it at all.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Well,

         12  that's your response, and that's to be continued,

         13  because we will be following up on that.

         14                 And, quite frankly, let me just tell

         15  you that we will legally challenge that if that's

         16  your position. And I assume that's your position,

         17  you're speaking as a counsel on behalf of the

         18  Department of Education. We will be challenging

         19  that, in order to try to get those documents, since

         20  you're not willing to share those on a voluntary

         21  basis. Okay? Let me just move on then, and we'll

         22  leave that as it may.

         23                 Deputy Chancellor, reasons you cited

         24  for not bidding this contract, meaning with A&M

         25  publicly, is that A&M had offered their services to
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          2  you, I believe you said on a pro bono basis, and

          3  then later were consultants paid for with private

          4  money by the fund for public schools, and that this

          5  prior experience made them uniquely qualified to

          6  hold this contract.

          7                 Now, let me just ask a general

          8  question for this particular scenario. What's to

          9  stop other companies from offering their service to

         10  you free, pro bono, as a way of getting their foot

         11  in the door so that they can obtain a valuable

         12  contract down the line?

         13                 Doesn't this set a bad precedent for

         14  the City of New York, Department of Education?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't

         16  think so. I think the City often benefits, all City

         17  agencies, from companies that sometimes offer pro

         18  bono work.

         19                 Of course, certainly with the

         20  Department of Education, if they offer to do some

         21  work we didn't think was a high priority, we would

         22  say thank you very much and not accept it. But just

         23  for the record, the original engagement was paid for

         24  by private funds. It was not pro bono. It was paid

         25  for through private funding. They did extend part of
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          2  it to help us finish up some training and that sort

          3  of thing. They did that pro bono.

          4                 The second engagement where they

          5  identified the $89 million in savings was also

          6  privately funded. And I think the City and the

          7  Department were very fortunate to have the benefit

          8  of those private funders spending that money in a

          9  way that has significantly benefitted the children

         10  of the City of New York.

         11                 As it then turns out, as you look at

         12  these sequence, they have, having had a great deal

         13  of experience with us, knowing us in-depth and

         14  across the entire agency, it made sense at that

         15  juncture in time for them to continue to work with

         16  us and for us to engage them.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You know, as a

         18  layperson, it doesn't seem right that individuals

         19  can come in and be hired by a private fund, okay?

         20  Which DOE says we have nothing to do with that.

         21  That's not with us. That's with the Fund for the

         22  City of New York, which is totally separate and

         23  apart from us.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Can I just

         25  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: No, no, let me

          3  finish.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Okay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I've heard you

          6  say that DOE, you know, we have not entered into a

          7  contract with A&M, that was the Fund for the public

          8  schools, and as a result of that, you know, you can

          9  request a copy of the contract from the Fund, but in

         10  reality the Fund is so intricately connected to the

         11  Department of the Education, and Joel Klein is the

         12  Chairman of the Board or trustee of the Fund. I

         13  mean, so --

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Absolutely.

         15  Absolutely.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And what I'm

         17  saying to you is that, you know, from DOE to

         18  respond, even in public or private meetings is that

         19  we have nothing to do with the Fund and that is a

         20  second organization, and you can ask them when the

         21  Chancellor is heading the Fund.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Absolutely.

         23  Absolutely.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's kind of

         25  trying to doubletalk us in that respect.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: You're

          3  absolutely right, the Fund has been in existence.

          4  The Fund is a, for those who don't know, a

          5  501(c)(3), not-for-profit corporation that I think

          6  came into existence in the early eighties. It

          7  certainly operates to the benefit of the public

          8  schools and therefore to the Department. The

          9  Chancellor is the Chair. I do not have a copy of

         10  that contract. Let us get back to you. The

         11  Chancellor certainly is involved.

         12                 But my second point is, the A&M

         13  uniqueness is not just based on the work they did

         14  for us. You have to remember, it is the only company

         15  that has this unique experience in working with

         16  transformations of public school system.

         17                 I mean, we have a lot of other

         18  consultants in the New York City -- in New York City

         19  and in the Department, none of them has this kind of

         20  background. It is a very unique company. They have

         21  created a unique niche for themselves.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, I've heard

         23  you say that on many occasions. In fact, you're

         24  saying that they're the only one that have that

         25  experience. With the St. Louis contract, that in
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          2  which A&M was awarded, they were awarded the

          3  contract, there were about ten bidders for that

          4  particular contract. So, to say that they're the

          5  only one that can do this business, in my opinion,

          6  is not true.

          7                 I mean, unique? I mean, if in fact I

          8  had access to DOE for two years, for two years,

          9  okay? And no other contractor in that business had

         10  access to DOE officials and records for two years, I

         11  guess I would be uniquely qualified also, since I

         12  had my foot in the door for two years. But A&M is

         13  not so unique in the business that they do, and

         14  that's why St. Louis, okay, awarded them a contract

         15  under an open, competitive bidding process. And we

         16  don't see, and I don't see what was so unique about

         17  this contractor that DOE could not have openly

         18  bidded this contract. That's what I'm saying to you

         19  as the Chair of the Education Committee, as the

         20  former Chair of the Contracts Committee of the City

         21  of New York, in which Yvette Clarke now is the

         22  current Chair of the Contract. And nothing that you

         23  have said in your explanations here today, you know,

         24  with all due respect to you as an individual,

         25  convinces me otherwise.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I'm going to

          3  ask David Ross to try.

          4                 MR. ROSS: And I guess what I would

          5  say is, and I should be very clear, we did

          6  contemplate doing an RFP for this contract. It was

          7  actively discussed at the highest levels of the

          8  Department, and it was my recommendation to the

          9  Chancellor that we should actually do this contract

         10  as an exception. And that was based on the facts as

         11  they presented themselves at the time.

         12                 They were on the ground. They had

         13  done the work in St. Louis already, and they had

         14  already done the work that they had done in St.

         15  Louis. So, they presented themselves with a

         16  readiness to go and a deep experience in this kind

         17  of contracting that no one else could have presented

         18  and that no one else would have been ready with at

         19  the time.

         20                 So, given those circumstances, we

         21  just didn't want to do an RFP process that the

         22  outcome of which was absolutely clear to everyone

         23  looking in at that point.

         24                 So, I made that recommendation, and

         25  it was because I don't want to run a procurement
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          2  process that suggests it's competitive, where we

          3  just know the outcome.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm going to

          5  turn to my colleagues.

          6                 I mean, you talk about St. Louis. You

          7  read the papers just like I do. You read the results

          8  of that. You read the comments from the unions

          9  there. You read the comments of parents here. You

         10  read the comments about the fact that the

         11  recommendations that they made in St. Louis, you

         12  know, where schools were closed, employees were laid

         13  off, the impact, the negative impact on especially

         14  minority communities. This is all publicly in the

         15  papers about St. Louis.

         16                 And then you talk about their record

         17  in St. Louis, in June 2003, Alvarez and Marsal

         18  reported to work in St. Louis. Now, this is June

         19  2003. A year later an audit was done by I think the

         20  State, the State auditors of Missouri, and they

         21  found, this is a year later, that the district's

         22  financial conditions remain poor, and the district's

         23  declining financial conditions resulted from a

         24  combination of declining State revenue and a lack of

         25  significant reductions and expenditures.
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          2                 In essence, they were already in

          3  there a year after. And they have been criticized

          4  and criticized in the papers by many, many groups

          5  and organizations.

          6                 So, what record then were you looking

          7  at in deciding on this particular contract? I assume

          8  that you read the same newspaper articles. I'm

          9  assuming that you read the State audit report. What

         10  records were you looking at in giving A&M this

         11  contract on a no-bid contract basis?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, the

         13  arrangement we had with A&M is, I would suggest,

         14  different than the arrangements that St. Louis had.

         15                 Look at the context. When A&M went in

         16  there, St. Louis was bankrupt. The school district

         17  was bankrupt. They had a shortfall of I think $90

         18  million on a $400 million budget. That would be

         19  comparable here to us having a three-and-a-half

         20  billion dollar shortfall. We may never see it, but I

         21  mean, the only thing comparable was 1975 in New York

         22  City, when New York City went through terribly

         23  painful layoffs, terribly painful reductions, and

         24  what A&M did in St. Louis, it had the same kind of

         25  difficult decisions to make because they had been
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          2  hired to actually run the school district, which is

          3  not the case here.

          4                 But I would suggest to you, yes, they

          5  closed seven schools, but that was the school

          6  district that was shrinking in terms of its

          7  demographics. Schools were half filled. What they

          8  were able to do was to close seven schools and not

          9  layoff one teacher, because what they did was to

         10  consolidate schools.

         11                 Now, you know, I'm sure that made

         12  many people, and particularly parents unhappy. But

         13  what else were they going to do with the kind of

         14  shortfall? What did the City of New York do in 1975

         15  when they had to make tough decisions?

         16                 It certainly was the correct response

         17  to that kind of situation.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, Deputy

         19  Chancellor, you know, St. Louis bankruptcy, or

         20  pending bankruptcy as a school system or as a City

         21  cannot compare to New York City in 2005/2006.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Oh,

         23  absolutely.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So to use,

         25  without any specific, you know, knowledge of all of
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          2  the insights that you had, but to say that they

          3  dealt with the situation that was totally different

          4  than ours. I agree, it's totally different. That's

          5  the city on bankruptcy, versus a city that's

          6  growing, where the economic forecast is very, very

          7  good, where we have projected deficits, but for the

          8  past four years, we've ended up with record

          9  surpluses, billions of dollars.

         10                 So, I don't think that if you made

         11  that comparison, as a basis of determining to do the

         12  contract, I can't see it, because that's the

         13  difference in night and day.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I began my

         15  remarks saying it was a very different situation.

         16  But what we did see was a company that made

         17  appropriate responses to what that situation was.

         18                 We saw a company that actually had

         19  depth and breadth, in terms of how a school system

         20  works. It's those kinds of evaluations that I think

         21  are important.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Then I'm going

         23  to call on my colleagues, Felder, Liu and Koppell,

         24  Yassky, and then we're going to go to our Public

         25  Advocate Betsy Gotbaum in back of me who has joined
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          2  us.

          3                 Welcome, Public Advocate.

          4                 Okay, Council Member John Liu.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chairman. Thank you for holding this hearing.

          7                 I certainly want to thank the

          8  officials from the Department of Education also.

          9                 I'll say from the outset that I think

         10  your testimony about A&M makes them sound very, very

         11  impressive. I think the testimony about the

         12  Department's actions in this case are far less than

         13  impressive.

         14                 One main question that you haven't

         15  answered and that I'd like you to answer is, despite

         16  A&M being ostensibly very impressive in what they

         17  are able to do and what they may indeed have done in

         18  this case, there is no explanation about why it is

         19  that it was such a time sensitive critical effort,

         20  that they had to be hired on the fly immediately,

         21  without having to go through the contracting

         22  process. What was the urgency? Why did they have to

         23  get hired so quickly, when, in fact, they had been

         24  with the Department, working integrally together for

         25  years?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, on

          3  this engagement they had been with us six months, I

          4  think. Roughly.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, I mean, you

          6  cite years of history with them.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There was a

          8  prior engagement, yes.

          9                 As always, we look at September as a

         10  very important date in the Department. And we wanted

         11  to assure ourselves that some of the implementation

         12  of what the initiatives that we were involved in

         13  were going to be finished.

         14                 It made no sense for us to go out and

         15  delay an entire process when in fact, as David has

         16  testified, we thought that this company was uniquely

         17  qualified.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, in other

         19  words, when your planning for the school year, there

         20  is no integration of the time periods that are

         21  required for proper contracting. You just basically

         22  disregard the contracting time frames, just because

         23  you want to get the school year started on time?

         24                 MR. BEST: Actually, we were very

         25  focused on the contracting time frames.
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          2  Realistically at the time, we were only two months

          3  away when we were first discussing this, I believe,

          4  from when the Alvarez and Marsal contract that was

          5  privately engaged would be ending.

          6                 So, if we went through a meaningful

          7  procurement process that enabled competition, we

          8  would certainly have had a gap in service, and

          9  probably a fairly lengthy gap in service, if we were

         10  to engage in a meaningful and robust competitive

         11  process, and it would have in fact delayed their

         12  efforts that are supporting the schools --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, see,

         14  there's no question that we're going through the

         15  contracting process properly. It takes time. There's

         16  no question about that. You keep saying that we

         17  shouldn't go through the contracting process because

         18  we don't want to waste time. The point is that it

         19  does take time to go through the contracting process

         20  properly.

         21                 And Mr. Ross, your comments earlier

         22  actually raise some questions for me, because you

         23  state that -- well, earlier you had stated, Mr.

         24  Ross, that you decided, you made the recommendation

         25  to just go ahead with this company without going
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          2  through the contracting process, because you felt

          3  that there was not going to be any real competition.

          4                 Now, I could understand if you said

          5  that as the director of some kind of an operating

          6  entity or an instructional entity within the

          7  Department of Education. But you're the Executive

          8  Director of Contracts and Purchasing, and I'm just

          9  trying to understand how the Director of Contracts

         10  and Purchasing, that is not really directly

         11  responsible for the instructional operations of the

         12  Department of Education, could somehow make the

         13  conclusion that there can't possibly be any

         14  competition out there. And so we wouldn't want to

         15  have the semblance of there being a competitive bid.

         16                 How could you say that there's no

         17  competition, and therefore make your recommendation

         18  based on that conclusion?

         19                 MR. ROSS: Right. The conclusion that

         20  was reached by myself and the Chancellor and the

         21  Committee on Contracts all was that no other firm

         22  would have been prepared to start and do the work

         23  that Alvarez and Marsal was already doing, and be on

         24  the ground and ready to contribute in time for this

         25  school year. The time it would have taken to do a
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          2  meaningful competitive procurement would have

          3  delayed the process significantly.

          4                 So, I fully recognize the time it

          5  takes to do a meaningful procurement, and that was

          6  one of the matters that was considered when we

          7  considered whether to do this --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, it's not just

          9  your conclusion that there can't possibly be any

         10  competition, which is what you talk about earlier.

         11  It's also that once again, you did not want to go

         12  through the contracting process because that process

         13  takes time.

         14                 MR. ROSS: Let me finish.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: No, I got the

         16  answer to that question.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I would like

         18  to add one thing, however.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay.

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We do have a

         21  process. We did advertise in the City Record. No one

         22  responded with any interest. We found through that

         23  process no competitors.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, see, Madam

         25  Deputy Chancellor, the whole point is that there is
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          2  a contracting process, and the contracting process

          3  is not limited to posting it in the City Record.

          4                 Now, Mr. Ross, you talked about -- so

          5  what is it, the Department of Education had this

          6  idea, I guess in July, that you wanted to do

          7  something by September. You talked about two months,

          8  right?

          9                 MR. ROSS: No, no, no. The engagement

         10  with Alvarez and Marsal I believe expired in June.

         11  So, we were discussing a couple or a few months

         12  before that, whether we would go out and do a

         13  competitive RFP to see if we can get competition or

         14  not. And the decision centered around whether

         15  anyone, given the circumstances, given that Alvarez

         16  and Marsal was on the ground, doing the work,

         17  already involved in the school system, and whether

         18  anybody else could reasonably be expected to compete

         19  favorably against the advantages that they had.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: In this case,

         21  what was the charge to? What was their charge? What

         22  was the job that you gave them?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: In the phase

         24  while they were working?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: No, no. Mr. Ross
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          2  talked about how they were finishing up an

          3  engagement in June. And so they could not start a

          4  new engagement until July, so what is that

          5  engagement? What is that job? What charge did you

          6  give them? Define cost savings. I mean just a

          7  one-line description. I'm not asking for every

          8  little detail of that charge.

          9                 MR. ROSS: It was the work that they

         10  were doing on behalf of the Department of Education,

         11  as provided for by the Fund. It was the contract

         12  that we were discussing earlier. So, it was --

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I will give

         14  you a one-line --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Yes.

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It was to

         17  find revenue. To find resources in both central

         18  offices and regional offices, and to find savings

         19  that we could drive down to the schools to empower

         20  principals to push the performance of children.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. And, so,

         22  the Department didn't think that that was a worthy

         23  goal until July?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Of course

         25  not. This has been the Chancellor's goal since he
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          2  got here.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Then why is it

          4  that there is no time to go through the contracting

          5  process?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Because A&M

          7  was in from roughly January through June for an

          8  engagement with private funding.

          9                 Once the Chancellor decided that

         10  their efforts were productive and helpful to the

         11  Department, that's when we began to explore the

         12  possibility of continuing this effort. It is when we

         13  had the conversations about what the process should

         14  be, should we do an RFP? That's when we had the

         15  analysis and the recommendation for Mr. Ross, that

         16  in terms of timing, in terms of the uniqueness of

         17  this company, in terms of them being on the ground,

         18  that we should go through the exception to bid

         19  process.

         20                 There is always a process.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: The only thing

         22  that, and I've heard today based on our Chairman's

         23  questions and your responses, and your continuing

         24  response right now is that the only reason that the

         25  A&M got this is that they had been in there for six
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          2  months prior.

          3                 That's the only reason. It's not

          4  necessarily because Mr. Ross had said earlier there

          5  can't possibly be any competition.

          6                 By the way, you know, as the Director

          7  of Contracting, I would assume that, you know, you

          8  put out a very simple RFP and you let companies

          9  respond, and based on that, you determine that there

         10  really is no competition. But you don't predetermine

         11  that there is no competition without even putting

         12  out the RFP.

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There was no

         14  pre-determination.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, Mr. Ross's

         16  comments earlier strongly implied that as the

         17  Director of Contracting he made a recommendation

         18  because he did not want to get the semblance that

         19  there would be any kind of competition.

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: And, you

         21  know, he made a recommendation that he did not think

         22  there was any competition out there, and he was

         23  proven correct through the process we went through.

         24  We advertised this, there were absolutely no

         25  expressions of interest from any other vendor.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Kathleen, that's

          3  not --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me just ask,

          5  you're saying that you advertised; where did you

          6  advertise, and what did you advertise? What

          7  specifically did you advertise? What did you ask

          8  for?

          9                 MR. ROSS: We advertised in the public

         10  record, in the City Record, as other City agencies

         11  do with an explanation for what the contract would

         12  be for, an estimate of the dollar value of the

         13  contract, and that advertisement ran for a week,

         14  which I believe is what other City agencies do.

         15                 And the other thing I did want to go

         16  back to, we didn't make the decision based on a

         17  single factor. It was based on a combination of

         18  factors. And those included the competitive

         19  advantages that Alvarez and Marsal had from their

         20  experience elsewhere, the fact that they were

         21  already on the ground at the DOE, and the time it

         22  would take to run a competitive procurement. And

         23  what that would mean in terms of delay to achieving

         24  the objectives of what they were already working on.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: The announcement
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          2  in the City Record, is that where advertised; is

          3  that correct? Was that an announcement of the actual

          4  award or was it an announcement of a request for a

          5  proposal or a request for people to respond to a

          6  bid?

          7                 MR. ROSS: It was an advertisement for

          8  the intent for the Department's Committee on

          9  Contracts to consider approval of that contract. So,

         10  it explains an intent. I believe it is in fact

         11  consistent generally with what the City agencies do

         12  when they do a negotiated --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, so it

         14  specifically asked for bids; is that correct?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: It did not?

         17                 MR. ROSS: No. It says that the

         18  Department's Committee on Contracts will be

         19  considering approval of a contract with Alvarez and

         20  Marsal, and it provides a synopsis of the work that

         21  they would be doing in the system.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Oh, it said that

         23  specifically? No, I'm saying it said that

         24  specifically? It's considering a contract at Alvarez

         25  and Marsal, and just what you said?
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          2                 MR. ROSS: Considering approval of a

          3  contract with Alvarez and --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I see. So,

          5  basically, in my opinion, if that's the case, rather

          6  than going through an open, competitive process

          7  saying that we're looking for a contractor with

          8  knowledge of cost savings and what have you, I mean,

          9  if I am out there and I'm in that business and

         10  you're saying you're considering a contract with

         11  Alvarez and Marsal. And I know that you already had

         12  a six-month contract with them, and I know that the

         13  Fund for the City of New York has had a contract

         14  with them, and which the Chancellor is the Chairman

         15  of the Board of Trustees for the Fund, basically

         16  I've already been told that you're going to enter a

         17  new contract, with Alvarez and Marsal, and I

         18  shouldn't even apply. That's what basically it says.

         19  And I'm a layperson, and I just read that into the

         20  response that you gave me.

         21                 Am I understanding, Ms. Grimm, that

         22  you all didn't receive any responses to that; is

         23  that correct?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That is

         25  correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. All right.

          3                 Can you provide us with a copy --

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Absolutely.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: -- Of your

          6  advertisement, if you don't mind, announcing that

          7  you were going to enter into a contract with A&M,

          8  and that if you want to bid for it, by all means,

          9  publicly and legally you can, but the indications

         10  were, as far as the layperson is concerned, that you

         11  were going to enter into a contract.

         12                 I'm sorry, John Liu. You can

         13  continue.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chairman.

         16                 Once again, I do want to state that

         17  it certainly is my opinion that an advertising

         18  scheme is not a replacement for a procurement

         19  process. So, I don't want anybody to think that just

         20  because it was posted in the City record, that that

         21  somehow is an invitation for people to bid. When, in

         22  fact, among knowledgeable people out there, it's

         23  generally known that it's a done deal. So, why would

         24  they respond, even if they weren't interested?

         25                 So, again, the whole timing of this,
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          2  there is no justification to how it was done. But

          3  let me now ask you a couple of questions about this

          4  impressive record that A&M has, that you have cited

          5  on their behalf, in regard to their qualifications,

          6  their experience, as well as the result that you've

          7  testified they delivered.

          8                 The $89 million in savings, and,

          9  again, I'm not asking for a great deal of detail

         10  here, just roughly what is it? Is it savings and PS?

         11  Personal costs? Is it savings and buildings,

         12  management, what kind of savings is it, roughly

         13  speaking?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Roughly

         15  speaking, it was a management review of central

         16  offices and regional offices, and it was a reduction

         17  in headcount of roughly 400. I can get you the exact

         18  numbers. I don't have the sheet with me.

         19                 And what we did was, we took those

         20  annualized savings, we had to -- and remember, this

         21  is in conjunction with the creation of the

         22  empowerment schools.

         23                 So, in September, or July 1st really,

         24  we're moving 300 schools into the empowerment school

         25  scenario. We are creating networks for them of 20
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          2  schools. We are creating an integrated service

          3  center. So, we are reducing the staffing in the ROCs

          4  and in the regions, because 300 schools, over 300

          5  schools are coming out of the regional structure.

          6  So, we are transferring some of those resources to

          7  give the new empowerment schools support.

          8                 But the bulk of the savings, 50

          9  million of it, is going directly to the schools, and

         10  another 20 million going to support around the

         11  schools.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I'm not

         13  questioning where the savings went to or should have

         14  gone to.

         15                 Of course every penny of savings

         16  should go into the classrooms.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: There is no

         19  question about that.

         20                 The question is, exactly what it is

         21  that they found savings in.

         22                 Now, I have to say that this is a

         23  process that ostensibly the Department started

         24  initially through the Fund for the City of New York

         25  in 2006. That's four years into this Department of
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          2  Education's tenure. And it took that much time to

          3  find $89 million of savings?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No, excuse

          5  me. Excuse me.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Yes.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: This process

          8  started, I believe, in January of '06. This process.

          9  It was a six-month process, $89 million. I mean, I

         10  think the record speaks for itself in terms of the

         11  accomplishments of this company. Eighty-nine million

         12  dollars.

         13                 Remember, that's the timetable of

         14  when we were going into the second phase of Children

         15  First, and restructuring around creating the

         16  empowerment schools.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay, then you're

         18  saying that they really could not have started this

         19  process before 2006. 2006 was the beginning of the

         20  second phase of Children's First?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay.

         23                 And then, finally, once again we get

         24  to this procurement process, because it's not clear

         25  that the $89 million savings would not have been
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          2  achieved if it had been another firm doing this

          3  work. It's not even clear that the Department's

          4  management could not have found the savings on its

          5  own. Because this is a lot of savings.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It certainly

          7  is. Council Member, I have to work with what we had.

          8  What we had was we had A&M that was doing an

          9  engagement paid for privately. I thought, I think

         10  all of us thought they did a very successful job. I

         11  identified an annual save of $89 million. And, so,

         12  what the Department decided was that we would

         13  continue with them into a second phase.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Eighty-nine

         15  million of savings is a large amount, but it's so

         16  significant that it's hardly, it's hardly believable

         17  that that much fat could not have been found without

         18  $17 million of consulting fees on an

         19  non-competitively bid --

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, we did

         21  not. We did not. Eighty-nine million was found in

         22  the engagement that was paid for by private funding.

         23  It was the $5 million engagement.

         24                 We have now entered into a contract

         25  of 15.8 million, 15 and change, so roughly $20
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          2  million. I mean, they've already saved 89 million.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: That's not a

          4  justification for just going ahead and spending

          5  millions of dollars, again, without a contracting

          6  process.

          7                 And Mr. Chairman --

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It did have

          9  a process.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Not in this case.

         11  There was no process in this case, it was

         12  non-competitively bidding.

         13                 And Mr. Chairman, this issue is an

         14  important issue. I want to thank you for holding

         15  this hearing. This is a questionable process that I

         16  have. I have questioned this process because while

         17  the results here may have been phenomenal, there

         18  have been other contracting processes that have been

         19  far less than optimal, and that's why we have to

         20  insist on an open competitive bidding process

         21  whenever possible, and when it is not done, we need

         22  to understand why it is that it wasn't done.

         23                 In this case there doesn't seem to be

         24  a great deal of compelling reason that there was no

         25  competitive bid.
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          2                 There are other contracts that the

          3  Department lets out for, less than a million

          4  dollars, couple hundred thousand dollars, even less

          5  than $100,000, where the procurement process could

          6  literally choke everybody out there who would be

          7  looking to do the competitive bidding. And, yet, for

          8  this kind of process, there is no competition, and I

          9  think that's something that needs to be seriously

         10  looked at.

         11                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         13                 We're getting kind of backed up here,

         14  but, I mean, these questions are important, so I

         15  appreciate DOE and my colleagues, and we can try to

         16  stick to the point. And I know that it's easier said

         17  than done when you're definitely asking questions,

         18  but my next questioner is Oliver Koppell of the

         19  Bronx.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you,

         21  Mr. Chairman. I'll try and be relatively concise.

         22                 There is some things that need to

         23  have sort of a bow tied on them. First of all, on

         24  this advertisement, I want to clarify this. The ad

         25  that you put in was put in for a week. It announced
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          2  that you planned to enter into the contract with

          3  A&M, correct?

          4                 MR. ROSS: It announces that the

          5  Committee on Contracts would be considering.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And was that

          7  at a public hearing? Do they have a public hearing

          8  after the ad? Does the ad say if you want to comment

          9  on this, you can come to the public hearing? Does it

         10  say that?

         11                 MR. ROSS: It is not a public hearing.

         12  It just says that the Committee on Contracts will be

         13  hearing it. And I believe, I will have to show you

         14  the ad, I believe it tells you where to contact the

         15  Department.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I see. So, it

         17  doesn't really even invite comments. It just

         18  announces it basically.

         19                 MR. ROSS: I actually believe that it

         20  does.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: It does what?

         22                 MR. ROSS: Invite comment.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I see.

         24                 MR. ROSS: And we actually have

         25  received comment on one other occasion, but on this

                                                            81

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  occasion we didn't receive any comment at all.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: All right.

          4  Well, let me just say, Mr. Chairman. I think you

          5  know this, because you were Chair of the Committee

          6  on Contracts, there are contracting procedures that

          7  provide for a notice, they provide for either

          8  written comment, or public hearing. That is a far

          9  cry for inviting bids. It essentially has very

         10  little to do with inviting bids. It has to do with

         11  people who can come forward and say they don't think

         12  this money should be spent. Or they might come

         13  forward and say this particular contractor has

         14  something wrong with the contractor, but it's not an

         15  invitation for bids in any manner, shape or form.

         16                 And the fact that nobody came in

         17  after this announcement and said, oh, I can do this

         18  contract for less is hardly surprising.

         19                 I mean, it's conceivable that that

         20  could happen. To cite that as a reason why there was

         21  nobody else out there who could do this work is just

         22  plain, it's misleading is what it is. It's just

         23  plain misleading. It's not surprising there was no

         24  comment. I've been in this business a long time, and

         25  that kind of announcement is not, it's not a request
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          2  for proposal, it's not a request for bids, it's a

          3  request for comment, and that's it. And it may not

          4  even be that, because you indicate you don't even

          5  have a public hearing.

          6                 I know it used to be, when they used

          7  to have the old Board of Ed, and they did these

          8  contracts, they would have a public hearing and it

          9  would be listed, people could come in. That also

         10  wasn't a bid opportunity. It was an opportunity for

         11  people to talk about the contract.

         12                 So, I think that ties the bow on

         13  that. Let me tie the bow on something else. I don't

         14  want to belabor this. Are you going to provide to

         15  the Committee copies of the contract between the

         16  Fund and A&M?

         17                 MR. BEST: Well, since the entity the

         18  Fund is a 501(c)(3) with a Board, although the

         19  Chancellor is on the Board, he's hardly the only

         20  member, and private citizens who are not Department

         21  or City employees who are on that Board, I think

         22  that we have to consult with the Fund before we can

         23  give you a definitive answer.

         24                 However, Deputy Chancellor Grimm has

         25  indicated that we're going to go back and do that,
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          2  and we'll be getting back to the Committee

          3  expeditiously.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, let me

          5  just comment on this, first of all.

          6                 First of all, based on what the

          7  Chairman said, I heard that the contract was

          8  actually with the Department of Education. The

          9  Deputy Chancellor indicated you were a beneficiary

         10  of that contract. I cannot believe, and you can

         11  contradict me if you want, that a contract between a

         12  Fund and a contractor that provides that this

         13  contract is going to come into the system, and work

         14  out of the offices and go to the schools and look at

         15  the books, did not have the Department of Education

         16  sign off. I cannot believe that. Now, you're telling

         17  me that's true, you didn't sign off on that

         18  contract?

         19                 MR. BEST: All I said, Councilman

         20  Koppell, was that we were going to go back and

         21  consult on this with the Fund. I do not have the

         22  contract in front of me, and nobody is contending

         23  that the Department did not want this contract to

         24  come in, or in fact the Chancellor didn't make the

         25  decision that this was something the Department
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          2  would accept, because he is the one who made that

          3  decision.

          4                 We understand the questions that the

          5  Chairperson and yourself have asked. We are not

          6  saying, we are not making the assertions that you

          7  have asked me whether we're making. What we're

          8  saying is we're going to go back and we're going to

          9  take a look at this and get back to the Committee as

         10  expeditiously as we can.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Are you

         12  saying that on that contract with the Fund there was

         13  no signature of any DOE employee?

         14                 MR. BEST: I do not have the contract

         15  in front of me and therefore --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Want to make

         17  a bet?

         18                 MR. BEST: I'd rather not make a bet,

         19  no.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I'd put

         21  a lot of money on it, Mr. Chairman, there is a

         22  signature of a DOE employee on that contract. And I

         23  think, by the way, there is also a rule, and the

         24  attorneys will know, called a "third-party

         25  beneficiary rule." I suspect the Department can even
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          2  enforce or conceivably enforce some of that contract

          3  as a third-party beneficiary. But that's a more

          4  difficult legal question. But I can assure you that

          5  any consultant would be nuts to enter into a

          6  contract to come into a school system and review

          7  things and come in and reorganize or propose

          8  reorganization of management, without an agreement

          9  of the school system to allow them to do that. It

         10  would make no sense whatsoever.

         11                 So, therefore, I am sure that the

         12  Department as a party to the contract, as a party to

         13  the contract certainly you have the right to give

         14  this City Council a copy of it.

         15                 So, you don't need to comment. That's

         16  my opinion.

         17                 Now, but going to the contract itself

         18  now, which we'll take a look at, now I'm talking

         19  about the new contract that the Department entered

         20  into. How many people are involved in the execution

         21  of that contract?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There are

         23  roughly 20 people.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. And I'm

         25  reading now from a memo that you didn't prepare, it
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          2  was prepared by the Council, but I want to ask you

          3  if this is a correct statement of what A&M is

          4  supposed to do. It says here "The A&M contract calls

          5  for A&M consultants to perform several tasks during

          6  their term of service, including, but not limited

          7  to, creating a system through which principals of

          8  empowerment schools can purchase goods and services

          9  from DOE's central offices or from private vendors;

         10  overhauling the DOE's financial operation..." -- Now

         11  that part, let me just say I don't have any real

         12  quarrel to, but this sentence is what disturbs me --

         13  "... and assuming day-to-day management of such

         14  operations, and restructuring DOE's food facilities

         15  and transportation divisions to implement cost

         16  serving initiatives."

         17                 The phrase there that bothers me is

         18  "assuming day-to-day management of such

         19  operations."

         20                 Are they going to assume day-to-day

         21  management of any operations of the DOE?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: They have

         23  not, and they will not.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: They will

         25  not?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So that's not

          4  a correct characterization?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No, it is

          6  not.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: This is

          8  basically the creation of a model, or a system?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Most of the

         10  areas that you have mentioned to report to me, I

         11  assure you I am still in charge of all of them. And

         12  these people are working shoulder-to-shoulder with

         13  us, but they are not making our management decisions

         14  for us.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And how long

         16  will their role continue?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I think that

         18  the contact is 18 months, although I don't think it

         19  contemplates that everyone stays on board the full

         20  18 months.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: My concern is

         22  that I don't think it's appropriate, and Mr.

         23  Chairman, I don't think we have the time today to

         24  explore this any further, but I think what would be

         25  useful is to understand that these people are not
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          2  assuming management functions. They're doing,

          3  designing a system, but not assuming management

          4  functions. Because if they're assuming management

          5  functions, it's just a way of paying people three

          6  times as much as they earn as a public employee, and

          7  I don't think it's necessary.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: They are not

          9  assuming management roles at all.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you. And

         12  we have, there are only three final witnesses. The

         13  City Comptroller is waiting to testify. My colleague

         14  David Yassky, the Public Advocate of the City of New

         15  York, Betsy Gotbaum, and my colleague, Yvette

         16  Clarke, who is the Chair of the Contracts Committee.

         17                 Council Member Yassky of Brooklyn.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you. Let

         19  me just say, Deputy Chancellor, I will tell you that

         20  I'm very sympathetic to what you were trying to

         21  accomplish here. And I do not believe that you have

         22  done, that the Department did anything materially

         23  wrong. Quite honestly, from everything I heard here,

         24  I think that in substance you set a goal that was an

         25  important and necessary goal, went about achieving
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          2  it in a reasonable fashion. However, I have that

          3  goal being to find savings in central staff,

          4  something that you and I have, and indeed the

          5  Chancellor, have discussed from, you know, when he

          6  became Chancellor in his first hearing here. I have

          7  to say, though, some of the way in which you went

          8  about doing that, and in fact, some of the answers

          9  you have your staff have given today, honestly do

         10  kind of give the impression of having done something

         11  wrong, and I think that is a mistake that I hope

         12  you'll correct. And I just want to do three things

         13  very quickly.

         14                 Just I think that Council Member

         15  Koppell has articulated this as well as it could be:

         16  The contract between outside entities set up to

         17  improve do the Department's business, but as

         18  vehicles for attracting outside fundraising, which I

         19  assume that that really is the primary goal there,

         20  and perhaps also to enable you to act, you know,

         21  quickly and with more flexibility.

         22                 You know, again, I understand why you

         23  want to do that, but I think we have to admit this

         24  is -- when the Chancellor is the Chairman of the

         25  Board of such an entity, that is in effect, as far
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          2  as our oversight is concerned, the Department of

          3  Education.

          4                 And when asked for a copy of

          5  contracts, that that entity entered into, I don't

          6  think there should be any hesitation whatever in

          7  saying of course, just as if it were Department of

          8  Education contract, we'll provide that to you.

          9                 Do I understand now that you will do

         10  that? Or not? It wasn't clear to me from the last

         11  answer.

         12                 MR. BEST: Well, what I said was that

         13  since there is a private Board, as a legal matter

         14  it's a separate entity. It's a private 501(c)(3).

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, just in

         16  the interest of time, it begs credibility to say the

         17  Department, that nowhere in the Department is there

         18  a copy of it. So, you're not saying that we have to

         19  ask them for a copy.

         20                 MR. BEST: We also didn't say that,

         21  Councilman. I believe what Deputy Chancellor Grimm

         22  said --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: But if what

         24  you're saying is we need to ask their permission, I

         25  don't think that's, honestly, I don't think that's
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          2  the right answer.

          3                 MR. BEST: I also didn't say that.

          4  What I said was that, I believe the Deputy

          5  Chancellor said, she was asked specifically by the

          6  Chairperson whether she would ask the Chancellor if

          7  she has a copy of it, she said that she would.

          8                 I was asked about providing it, if

          9  the Fund has it, and what I said is since it's a

         10  separate 501(c)(3) with its own Board of private

         11  citizens, I feel it's appropriate for me to consult

         12  with them. I didn't say anything about permission. I

         13  said I would consult with them and get back to the

         14  Committee as expeditiously as we can.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Fair enough,

         16  we'll leave it at that. That would be opening, I

         17  think, a very, very serious area of dispute, if you

         18  take the position that is not something the

         19  Department would provide in ordinary oversight.

         20                 Similarly, I suppose, with the work

         21  product of A&M, and again, I understand the

         22  deliberative process exemption that you raise, and I

         23  would agree with you that it is not in the interest

         24  of the government to make public recommendation

         25  memos that are considered internally. Otherwise, it
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          2  will be very hard to get candid advice. I agree with

          3  that. I want my own staff to be able to write me a

          4  memo with whatever crazy ideas they can think of so

          5  that I can say, well, that's a crazy idea, without

          6  them wondering, you know, they're going to have to

          7  make that public.

          8                 So, I understand that. However, just

          9  as with in the case law and deliberative process,

         10  the policy, too, not everything is deliberative

         11  process, and if as I would think they did, and

         12  indeed I think they must have, A&M did what I would

         13  call factual work. Here is our analysis of what the

         14  Department spends and how they spend it, which one,

         15  I would think is a prerequisite to making any

         16  recommendations, then I would ask you to provide

         17  that, and I would ask you for two reasons.

         18                 One, in the exercise of the oversight

         19  responsibility that the Chair raised, you know, this

         20  is a lot of money spent on this contract. I think

         21  totally appropriate for the Council to say, we want

         22  to make sure that the taxpayers got their money's

         23  worth. Even assuming they did, that kind of

         24  oversight, as you well know, is critical to making

         25  sure they do, right? So, you know, well, somebody is
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          2  watching, they've got to make sure.

          3                 But beyond that in this case, it has

          4  been an ongoing source of frustration, I think, many

          5  of us in the Council, I'll speak only for myself, we

          6  have not been able to get a handle, quite honestly,

          7  on the Department's own finances.

          8                 And, again, I remember when you first

          9  started, you expressed some of that similar

         10  frustration. I remember the Chancellor sitting right

         11  there, and when asked how much are you spending on

         12  this function? The Chancellor saying, I can't tell

         13  you, because we don't have the systems in place to

         14  do it. A shocking answer.

         15                 And for us, the truth is, why do you

         16  need to go out to A&M? Plenty of -- I'm sure you

         17  wanted to implement serious change, it helps to have

         18  somebody from the outside who is not vested, you

         19  know, has no particular vested interest in what is

         20  going on, who indeed can act almost as a, you know,

         21  an outside force to help you make the changes you

         22  want to make. I get that, okay? But the best way

         23  really for this to happen would be if we have a

         24  genuine oversight budget process here where you

         25  could tell the Council, here is our budget in a
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          2  detailed way. Here is how much we spend on this

          3  program, this program, this program, this program,

          4  and then we could engage in the kind of separation

          5  of powers dialogue that we ought to.

          6                 So, in that effort, I will ask you to

          7  provide the factual background material that A&M

          8  provided, not recommendations, but whatever analysis

          9  they gave you of current spending, that I would ask

         10  you to provide. Will you?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes, we

         12  would be happy to work with you. Phrased that way,

         13  what they did, and if you understand this maybe it

         14  will help, they went in and, for example, in the

         15  regional offices and the ROC, they analyzed all of

         16  the functionality, and then they said it was going

         17  to create a new structure, how and what amount of

         18  that functionality did we need to transfer over.

         19  That kind of an analysis we have, and we'd be happy

         20  to sit down with you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you,

         23  Council Member Yassky.

         24                 Public Advocate Betsy Gotbaum.

         25                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: Mr. Chair, I
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          2  prepared a statement, but in the interest of time

          3  I'm just going to ask questions and distribute.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm sorry,

          5  Public Advocate. Can you bear with me one minute?

          6                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: Sure.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: We have a

          8  follow-up on the issue of the actual contract, which

          9  my colleague Oliver Koppell talked about, the

         10  day-to-day management, and I just wanted to

         11  follow-up on that point.

         12                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: No problem.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Deputy

         14  Chancellor Grimm, you said very clearly that your

         15  functions were not superseded by this contract. And

         16  yet, in reading part of the contract itself, it

         17  states the following: It states, it says go to

         18  undertake budgetary analysis and resources and

         19  provide general financial management support,

         20  particularly for the Division of Budget Operations

         21  and Review, the Office of Revenue Operations, the

         22  Division of Financial Operations and the Division of

         23  Contracts and Purchasing, that's your bailiwick,

         24  right?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And then the

          3  last thing it says here, it has a number of

          4  different sentences, which I'm not going to read

          5  all, but the last sentence says, and day-to-day

          6  management oversight of all DOE functions that have

          7  traditionally supported to the CFO. And that's

          8  exactly what I was concerned about. When it says

          9  they're going to assume day-to-day management, and

         10  oversight of all the -- that's not the role of a

         11  consultant.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Oliver, Council

         13  Member Koppell, you are reading actually from the

         14  contract?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes. Yes. It

         16  was provided by the staff of your staff, Mr.

         17  Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I'm reading

         20  from the contract.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The correct

         22  characterization of the role of A&M is management

         23  support. They are certainly involved in all of those

         24  areas on a day-to-day basis. They work very closely

         25  with me. They're certainly making recommendations,
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          2  but they do not play a management role in terms of

          3  management, decision or policy-making.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, it says

          5  day-to-day management. I would suggest to you that

          6  the words "day-to-day management" is exactly what

          7  you say they don't do, and it shouldn't be in the

          8  contract.

          9                 And one other thing, Mr. Chairman,

         10  before we have an answer. In the report that was

         11  given to the Committee on Contracts, as of July 26,

         12  2006, that's I believe our Committee. It states the

         13  following: "The Office of the Chancellor is

         14  requesting to enter into a requirements contract

         15  with Alvarez and Marsal to perform the following

         16  functions..." And I'm not going to read all of them,

         17  but because some of them seem appropriate, but one

         18  thing it says right here, "Assume interim management

         19  of financial operations. Lead the regional and

         20  central offices in developing, maybe that's all

         21  right, and providing quality services.

         22                 You see, this is the problem, you're

         23  bringing in these high-priced people to do functions

         24  that City civil servants ought to be doing.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Maybe we
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          2  should follow this up.

          3                 I just want to assure you that no

          4  management or policy-making roles have been

          5  transferred or are being done by A&M. They are

          6  certainly with us on a daily basis. They are working

          7  shoulder-to-shoulder with us, but all management

          8  decisions are made by the Chancellor, or his

          9  designee in this case.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I

         11  understand you may be there, and I assume in some

         12  respects you're making all the decisions, but the

         13  problem is, and in a system with the kind of

         14  billions of dollars of budget you have, you can't

         15  make every little decision. But it's not only you.

         16  You're the top of the pyramid. You have people who

         17  work for you. Those functions shouldn't be

         18  transferred to these folks under this contract. They

         19  should be making, in my view at least, they should

         20  be making system proposals, not day-to-day

         21  decisions. Not a day-to-day decision, yes, we've got

         22  to hire these people to do these functions. That's

         23  not their role to do that.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you,
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          2  Council Member Koppell.

          3                 Public Advocate Betsy Gotbaum.

          4                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: Mr.

          5  Chairman, as I said, I have a statement that I won't

          6  read in the interest of time, but I do have some

          7  questions.

          8                 I find it quite ironic, and almost

          9  amusing that by your own admission that this company

         10  was hired because you have urgent projects and they

         11  could hit the ground running. I wrote a letter to

         12  the Chancellor August 31st of I think some very

         13  substantive questions about exactly what the scope

         14  of the projects would be, and I have it here if

         15  anybody would like to see it, but ironically it came

         16  to me, the answer to these questions came last night

         17  at 6:00, and I'm sort of curious as to why it took

         18  three months and a Council hearing to have you all

         19  respond to what I think are very basic questions?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I apologize

         21  for the delay.

         22                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: Okay.

         23                 The other question I have is, I'm

         24  concerned, as are my colleagues, about the fact this

         25  is a no-bid contract. And I'm also concerned about
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          2  the very high salaries that are being paid to these

          3  consultants.

          4                 And then on top of that there are

          5  these expenses, 500 bucks a day to be in New York

          6  City. Now, there are many, many companies in New

          7  York City who are here, who have had long and

          8  certainly very successful relationships with the

          9  Department of Education. One when you all came in is

         10  McKinsey and Company, and I just find it a little

         11  bit upsetting, outrageous, given what other people

         12  in this City earn, what our teachers earn and our

         13  principals earn, I just find the fact that several

         14  of these consultants make a million dollars a year

         15  and their expenses are about $500 a day. Can you

         16  justify those expenses to us?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I'm sorry

         18  you weren't here for my remarks earlier, although it

         19  is in the printed testimony.

         20                 I think we, the staff did an

         21  excellent job, actually, in terms of benchmarking

         22  the rates that the contract calls for, both in terms

         23  of doing some cost analysis, in terms of various

         24  federal rates that are paid. These rates are

         25  certainly better. The rates compare very favorably
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          2  to the rates that A&M had in St. Louis.

          3                 So, I think we did our homework. And

          4  I grant you, it is expensive. I think it's certainly

          5  within the realm of reasonable for these services.

          6                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: Well,

          7  reasonable people disagree. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Congressmember

          9  elect, Congresswoman elect Yvette Clarke, who is

         10  currently the Council Member and Chair of the

         11  Contracts Committee.

         12                 Congresswoman elect.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chair.

         15                 Let me just ask a couple of more

         16  questions. I'm just trying to clarify, you know,

         17  some of what I've heard and sort of reconcile it.

         18  With respect to A&M, their role with the Fund,

         19  that's where they were initially identified, through

         20  the Fund, the Education Fund; did they go through a

         21  competitive bidding process, to your knowledge, with

         22  the Fund?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No. The Fund

         24  isn't subject to any of the rules.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: So, it was
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          2  someone's recommendation at some point --

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes, I think

          4  --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: -- That we

          6  look at these folks who have been doing this

          7  education-type stuff around the nation --

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: -- And have a

         10  good track record, as far as we know?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes. They

         12  were emerging as a very unique company. And when

         13  sort of the stars aligned and it was possible to get

         14  some kind of funding, they were sort of the emerging

         15  star.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Right. You

         17  know, I kind of understand how you got where you

         18  are. I think the problem that we're all having is

         19  that it's sort of a front door deal. Because what

         20  happens, because of the recommendation through the

         21  relationship with the Fund, the obvious nexus

         22  between the Fund and the Department of Education, in

         23  that the head of that agency or the Chairperson is

         24  also the Chancellor for our school system, it makes

         25  it very easy to enter into a contract that basically
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          2  is justified because of preeminence.

          3                 If I were a company in another part

          4  of the country who had developed a certain type of

          5  expertise of talent, but I'm not on the radar, and

          6  this group is, they have a competitive edge coming

          7  out the gate. They then get access to information

          8  that no one has access to, and become preeminent in

          9  the field. Hence, we are where we are today.

         10                 That does not demonstrate to us that

         11  there aren't others out there that do have the

         12  expertise, talent and ability to do what this firm

         13  has done.

         14                 And I think that that is where we're

         15  having some challenges around this contracting

         16  practice.

         17                 You know, I understand how you got

         18  where you are, but for the public whose money is

         19  involved here, they need to know that there was a

         20  search. They need to know that you have great

         21  judgment, we may be overlooking something out there

         22  and we may never know that because we have decided

         23  to open the door to someone through whatever means

         24  of affiliation, of familiarity, that others just

         25  don't have. And I would caution us for doing this in
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          2  the future.

          3                 I know that the people of the City of

          4  New York need to know that there is no way that we

          5  can be judged as being favorites, doing favoritism.

          6  That someone's friend of a friend who knew these

          7  guys in Milwaukee, you know, didn't all of a sudden

          8  show up in a New York City public school system and

          9  get paid multi millions amounts of dollars, and

         10  there is no one else on the planet who can compete

         11  with that.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, I

         13  certainly appreciate your comments because I think

         14  we have tried to do very diligently and in fact

         15  reach out to the Comptroller and his people to try

         16  to help us with this, is to try to increase the

         17  transparency, to make sure even the perception of

         18  fairness is there.

         19                 It turns out in this case this

         20  company has already identified $89 million in annual

         21  savings.

         22                 I would represent just very briefly

         23  another scenario, and it sort of goes to the

         24  relationship of the Fund. If this company, or any

         25  company had come in and offered to do some work that
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          2  wasn't part of our priorities, we wouldn't say yes.

          3  If they had come in and they had not done a good

          4  job, I am sure the Chancellor would have terminated

          5  it as the earliest possible moment, because private

          6  funding which is directed to the Fund, which

          7  ultimately benefits our children, is very precious

          8  indeed, and we don't want to see it spent on things

          9  that aren't actually benefitting the children.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I don't think

         11  that that's the point, you know, this is not

         12  completely an issue of second-guessing one another's

         13  judgment. It's about process, and to a certain

         14  degree you're talking about transparency and this,

         15  that and the other, these folks got a leg up. Any

         16  way you slice it, they got a leg up, and the reason

         17  they got a leg up is because they got entre to the

         18  system through other means that other people didn't

         19  have.

         20                 Because the Fund is not subject to

         21  the same type of review or contracting practices

         22  that the City of New York would necessarily go

         23  through. You know, they got access in a way that no

         24  one else would have. So, I think that's more the

         25  point. No one -- and maybe there are those out
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          2  there, and I know that there are, people are

          3  beginning to do more scrutiny on A&M and whether in

          4  fact, you know, they're as successful as one would

          5  be led to believe, but you eliminate all of that

          6  once you become competitive, and once you make it

          7  clear what the criteria is, and how they were

          8  selected. And there is no gray area.

          9                 This created a huge gray area. And I

         10  think that one of the things that you're hearing

         11  from myself and my colleagues, is that we really

         12  can't afford to do that in the City of New York,

         13  notwithstanding the professionalism, the ability of

         14  this organization, and I'm not going to second guess

         15  that you guys have that job to do. Ultimately what

         16  we're saying is here is that the practice in the

         17  City of New York is to bid out these things, and if

         18  that is the case, you know, the more and more that

         19  we make these type of exceptions and rules, the more

         20  we're going to go down that slippery slope, and I

         21  think people are very, very concerned about that.

         22                 What stops another agency, or another

         23  public fund that has this type of nexus, and they're

         24  all over the place in this town, from doing

         25  something similar? You create preeminence in this
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          2  way. You really do, and it's unfair.

          3                 So, that's my comment, Mr. Chair. And

          4  I would really encourage us to receive all of the

          5  documentation requested, but I think to a certain

          6  degree some of this is water under the bridge. We're

          7  going to get some results and we need to see those

          8  results, you know, as clearly as possible. But this

          9  practice I don't think is a good one. It's not one

         10  that helps to build confidence, you know, with

         11  respect to the public and the agencies that they're

         12  expecting working on their behalf.

         13                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         15                 Council Member John Liu, follow-up on

         16  a point.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I just wanted to

         18  briefly mention how there has been a lot of talk

         19  about how the Department did its due diligence in

         20  making sure that the contract was reasonably priced,

         21  because there are these three comparisons along the

         22  lines of hourly rates.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Benchmark.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And, you know, I

         25  certainly welcome your comments on this, but I would
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          2  think that hourly rate comparisons are not

          3  applicable when the size of the contract is far

          4  larger than most of the contracts out there under

          5  which the hourly rates are being compared.

          6                 When you have large contracts,

          7  whether they be on the public sector or the private

          8  sector, an hourly rate analysis is simply

          9  inadequate. There has to be much more than that.

         10                 So, it would be interesting, if you

         11  can comment on it or not, it would be interesting to

         12  see what other kinds of measures the Department of

         13  Education looked at to determine whether in fact the

         14  price charged was reasonable.

         15                 MR. ROSS: We looked, for example, at

         16  the contract they had in St. Louis, which was a

         17  sizable engagement, and our rates compared favorably

         18  even with those. So, you're right, it's not

         19  appropriate to just look at an hourly rate, but we

         20  did look beyond that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, how much was

         22  the St. Louis engagement?

         23                 MR. ROSS: Our rates --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: No, the total

         25  engagement. You just said that it's reasonable.
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          2                 MR. ROSS: I don't remember the exact

          3  amount. They had a very significant engagement.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Roughly speaking.

          5  Was it $10 million? Was it $1 million?

          6                 MR. ROSS: No, no. It was a sizeable

          7  engagement in St. Louis. I would have to --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Sizeable on the

          9  order of $16 million?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We would

         11  have to confirm it but I think it was comparable to

         12  ours.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Mr. Ross, you

         14  just volunteered your comment. You didn't have to

         15  comment. I mean, I appreciate you commenting, but we

         16  also appreciate some forthrightness here.

         17                 You just said that St. Louis has a

         18  comparable-sized engagement, and, therefore, it was

         19  justifiable to compare the hourly rates on that

         20  basis, and, yet, now you have no idea how big that

         21  St. Louis contract was. Is it 1 million or closer to

         22  10 million?

         23                 See, please, don't say things that

         24  you have no idea what you're saying.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I think Mr.
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          2  Ross has simply forgotten that number.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I'm not asking

          4  what the number is. I'm saying, is it closer to $10

          5  million? Is it closer to $1 million? You just came

          6  out point blank and said it was a comparable

          7  contract in size. This is why it's very frustrating,

          8  because it's hard to know what we can believe or

          9  not.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         11                 Finally, can I ask a question about

         12  the pie chart, if you don't mind? The yellow portion

         13  or beige portion which you see, I believe it says

         14  "exceptions, $113 million." I assume that exception

         15  does not include the renewal of the bus contract,

         16  which the renewal was non-competitive. We did not

         17  openly bid the bus contracts that's worth about $900

         18  million. That does not include that.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It does not

         20  because the bus contract was the year before.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: A year, okay.

         22  So, we're only talking about one year.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: '06.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: If it was

         25  included in there, that would have been, the yellow
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          2  portion would have been much larger, obviously; is

          3  that correct?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It would

          5  have been somewhat larger, because remember, the bus

          6  contract is five years.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: So, the

          9  spend would have been divided by five.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, basically

         11  this is the analysis only for Fiscal Year 2006.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Of '06, yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Which runs from

         14  July 1 of '05 to what is it?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: June 30th.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: June 30th of

         17  '06.

         18                 And this here exception is only for

         19  contracts that are above the $100,000 benchmark; is

         20  that correct?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         22                 We'd be able to give you a list of

         23  them, if you like.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes, that would

         25  be great.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Okay.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: If that's not

          4  too difficult. Okay, but the total amount, the total

          5  amount of no-bid contracts, is that $4.3 billion, or

          6  is it about 1.5 billion of no-bid contracts, the

          7  total amount?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: 114 million.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: No, I'm talking

         10  about all no-bid contracts, including those under

         11  $100,000.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Oh, no. The

         13  four point whatever it is, is all of our spend, all

         14  of our OTPS spend. All goods and services.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, 4.3 billion

         16  is for everything?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes. So,

         18  most of it goes through RFP processes or bid

         19  processes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: With the

         21  exception of about, the Chancellor's response is

         22  about -- so, is it about 1.5 billion that goes

         23  through a non-competitive bidding process?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: A hundred

         25  and fourteen million through the exception to bid
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          2  process.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But for those

          4  above $100,000.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: A hundred

          6  thousand, we will get you another number for those

          7  under 100,000.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Or whatever

         10  is not in the RFP or bid process.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Then the

         12  Chancellor, in response to us, the Chair Eva

         13  Moskowitz in 2004, and I'm looking at a document

         14  dated March 30th, 2004, that was addressed to Joel

         15  Klein by Eva Moskowitz, the Chair of the Education

         16  Committee, and his response was that there are

         17  approximately $1.36 billion in contracts that were

         18  not established through the competitive bidding

         19  process in the current fiscal year.

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And my question

         22  to you is this: Overall, per year, do you have an

         23  idea of what the total from $1 to whatever, of the

         24  total non-competitive bidding process?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I will have
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          2  to ask you to let me follow-up on that statement.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Because it

          5  doesn't approach that number.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Ever

          8  probably. So, I need to pursue that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: And get back

         11  to you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Because that's

         13  the response here that we have from the Chancellor

         14  in response to the question that was put forward to

         15  him in writing.

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I saw it

         17  referenced in your memorandum, and I need to

         18  follow-up on it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. If you'll

         20  get back to Counsel, I'll appreciate that.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We certainly

         22  will.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Then finally, I

         24  ask on behalf of myself and I'm sure many of our

         25  colleagues, especially considering the discussion
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          2  here today on the issue of non-competitive

          3  contracts, and more specifically, the contract with

          4  A&M, will the Department of Education voluntarily

          5  agree to follow the New York City rules for public

          6  contracting. That's what my question is for you

          7  right now, and that's including all of the

          8  discussion on the non-competitive contracts and more

          9  specifically the A&M contracts.

         10                 MR. BEST: We have been moving in the

         11  direction of mirroring a lot of the things in the

         12  City's PPB rules.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Can you just

         14  pull your mic up a little closer, Mr. Best, please.

         15                 MR. BEST: Forgive me.

         16                 We have been moving in the direction

         17  of mirroring more and more things in the PPB rules,

         18  and we intend to continue in that direction.

         19                 The PPB rules themselves we don't

         20  believe are really appropriate for us to be under in

         21  exactly the same way that Charter City agencies are

         22  for the reason that -- two reasons really, one is

         23  that State law vests in the Chancellor the authority

         24  to set up a procurement policy. Which brings me to

         25  the second reason, which I believe the reason that
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          2  the State law does that is because there are

          3  differences between the way legally that the

          4  Department of Education is structured and other City

          5  agencies are that I think bear on how procurement

          6  should work.

          7                 The procurements, the various parts

          8  of Section 2590 of the Education Law set up various

          9  different actors within the system who can make

         10  procurement decisions at different levels. It

         11  reflects the fact I think that the City school

         12  district is divided up into 32 community school

         13  districts with a community superintendent who has

         14  certain procurement powers under the law. The

         15  Chancellor's powers also mention that certain powers

         16  go to the principals of schools, and we're moving in

         17  the direction of getting more and more authority to

         18  principals in empowerment schools.

         19                 It's a very, very large system, and

         20  as you yourself pointed out earlier, it's different

         21  than other school systems in the country, as a

         22  result of the vast size of the City school district.

         23                 Also, given a geographical diversity

         24  as a structural matter that the law sets up, and the

         25  fact that decisions have to be made at these
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          2  different levels under the law, we don't think that

          3  exactly the same thing as the PPB rules actually

          4  work as a model that we should follow.

          5                 And in particular I'd mention this,

          6  although we have been trying, as Deputy Chancellor

          7  Grimm said, to move more and more in the direction

          8  of transparency, in terms of when we're arguing

          9  non-competitive bids, in terms of advertising them,

         10  in terms of making it known what the Committee on

         11  Contracts is considering, we've been moving in the

         12  direction of more transparency assisting those

         13  things in advance, letting people know, all these

         14  things that mirror what are in the PPB rules to

         15  putting an added layer of bureaucracy, which we

         16  think that in terms of the Mayor's Office of

         17  Contracts and things that work for Charter agencies,

         18  we simply don't think would work for schools which

         19  have a sort of unique September deadline, in terms

         20  of getting a lot of things done, in terms of the way

         21  that decisions have to be made for the Department.

         22                 So, although we are committed, you

         23  know, we'll be happy to keep working in the

         24  direction of more transparency and more alignment in

         25  terms of our practices with the ones that are in the
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          2  City rules. We're not sure that every one of those

          3  rules makes sense for us.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, I just

          5  think that when you ask the members of the public

          6  and you ask the members of this City Council, and

          7  especially considering the tenure of Mayor of

          8  control which the right for procurement was amended

          9  in 2002 to give the Chancellor more specific

         10  authorities than they had back in 19 -- I think '88

         11  or '89, when the Chancellor had to get approval from

         12  the Central Board of Education, clearly it's many of

         13  our opinions that we need to have a more transparent

         14  process and we need to have a process where every

         15  City agency is required to go through the same

         16  process, in order to ensure public accountability on

         17  contracts, and especially no-bid contracts. And I do

         18  not believe that the Department of Education is

         19  more, quote/unquote special, than any other City

         20  agency or department, they all work on a fiscal year

         21  of July 1 to June 30th. The City's fiscal year is

         22  July 1 to June 30th in which the Department of

         23  Education receives monies from the City of New York,

         24  and even though the calendar year, as far as from an

         25  operational point of view, it may be from September
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          2  through June, as far as teachers and as far as from

          3  principals, but now schools are basically opened 24

          4  -- I mean, not 24, 12 months a year, principals

          5  around.

          6                 So, I just think that it would be in

          7  the best benefit for the entire public if the New

          8  York City Department of Education would voluntarily

          9  follow the rules, in order so that you will be held

         10  to the same standard as every City department and

         11  agency.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I think that

         13  we would want to continue to work with you toward

         14  greater transparency, toward greater perceptions of

         15  transparency.

         16                 I think we've heard many of the

         17  comments here today, we will certainly take them

         18  very seriously, and we'll go back and discuss them

         19  with the Chancellor, and we will try to make more

         20  improvements to what we have to more and more mirror

         21  the City's project.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, let me

         23  just say I appreciate you saying that you will move

         24  forward in trying to mirror more of what the New

         25  York City processes are.

                                                            120

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 One step in that direction, the

          3  Committee on Contracts, they meet I guess on an

          4  ongoing basis, and I believe you're not required to

          5  hold a public hearing before. So, one of the steps

          6  in that direction may be if the Committee on

          7  Contracts would hold public hearings before. So,

          8  I'll ask you to consider that.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We certainly

         10  will. That's certainly on the list.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, Deputy

         12  Chancellor Grimm, we thank you and Mr. Best, the

         13  Counsel, and Mr. Ross, the Director of Contracting

         14  for coming in and entering into a dialogue and

         15  responding to our questions, and we look forward to

         16  hearing your responses and following up to their

         17  questions that we have asked you.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Thank you

         19  very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 And next we'll hear from the City

         23  Comptroller of New York, the Honorable William

         24  Thompson. And sitting in the audience, listening to

         25  the final I guess half an hour or so of testimony,
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          2  the Deputy Chancellor Kathleen Grimm, the Counsel

          3  and the Director of Contracts, for the Department of

          4  Education. And in essence, let me just say, I'm glad

          5  that you actually sat and heard approximately the

          6  last half hour of testimony because you got a sense

          7  of the questions and responses in which members of

          8  this body has asked the Department of Education and

          9  got an opportunity to hear some of the typical

         10  responses that they have given.

         11                 And, so, with that, I welcome you

         12  this afternoon, and I offer you the opportunity to

         13  introduce yourself and your colleague that sits with

         14  you and an opportunity to read your prepared

         15  statement on the record.

         16                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chairman. And it is a pleasure to be back here. I

         18  know it was interesting listening to the last half

         19  hour and perhaps I will have a couple of comments on

         20  at least some of what I heard at the end of my

         21  testimony.

         22                 I'm here with the Deputy Comptroller

         23  for Contracts, Audit and Accountancy, John Graham.

         24  John is, particularly on this topic and in the areas

         25  of contracts, is probably one of the best versed
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          2  individuals in the City of New York. He may regret

          3  me saying that at some point, but John is incredibly

          4  knowledgeable, and it's a pleasure to have him here.

          5                 Mr. Chairman, and the honorable

          6  members of the Education Committee, I appear before

          7  you today to express my deep concern with the

          8  procurement process at the New York City Department

          9  of Education. And let me start out first, before I

         10  get into the rest of my comments, by congratulating

         11  the Committee for holding a hearing on this topic.

         12  It is something that needs to be done. It is an

         13  issue that has been of concern for awhile to both my

         14  office and I know to you and other members of the

         15  Committee.

         16                 Only six years ago, the use of

         17  non-competitive bids were relatively rare. In 2000

         18  and 2004, which includes the period in which the

         19  Board of Education was transformed into the

         20  Department of Education, the value of those

         21  contracts skyrocketed from $700,000 to $47 million.

         22                 In the wake of my office's

         23  investigation back then into the Snapple contract,

         24  the figure declined to 27 million over the past two

         25  years, and we can get into that number a little
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          2  later and how we came about that number.

          3                 But if you use the $700,000

          4  benchmark, that is still far too much. And I think

          5  the question really is first how did we get here.

          6                 The Department of Education currently

          7  has no formal rules to follow when procuring goods

          8  and services. This lack of rules stands in stark

          9  contrast to the requirements of other New York State

         10  and New York City agencies.

         11                 Moreover, in spite of continued

         12  criticism, the Department of Education refuses to

         13  adopt the set of formal procurement rules similar to

         14  those followed by every other City agency in a

         15  process that is open and transparent, subject to

         16  public comment and accountability, contracts that

         17  all other City agencies are subject to the

         18  Procurement Policy Board rules, the PPB rules.

         19                 The PPB, comprised of three

         20  representatives of the Mayor and two representatives

         21  of my office, takes a deliberative approach to

         22  developing policies under which the City procures

         23  contracts.

         24                 There is discussion, debate, and an

         25  open forum to which the public can comment. There is
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          2  in the end a public vote. This is a process that

          3  while not perfect, is at least transparent.

          4                 By contrast, contracts let by the

          5  Department of Education have been determined by the

          6  Law Department and the Schools Chancellor to fall

          7  outside of that process.

          8                 The DOE claims it is not required to

          9  adopt formal procedures for awarding contracts.

         10                 Since the Board of Education became

         11  the Department of Education, it has exploited a grey

         12  area in the law that allows it to treat itself as a

         13  State agency whenever it is convenient to do so, and

         14  then as a City agency when it is likewise

         15  convenient. That is neither good government, nor

         16  good public policy.

         17                 As Comptroller, I am responsible for

         18  enforcing many of the regulations designed to

         19  encourage fair, open competition. It's more than

         20  just my job, I believe in competition. It's good for

         21  New York and it's the right way to go.

         22                 When we give responsible contractors

         23  the opportunity to compete for City contracts

         24  everybody benefits. Competition ensures that the

         25  City gets the best price for the highest quality
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          2  work.

          3                 In addition, competition helps

          4  protect the integrity of the contracting process. It

          5  also strengthens local economy by ensuring that a

          6  wide range of companies have the chance to win

          7  lucrative contracts that can make or break a

          8  business.

          9                 As you know, a few years ago I

         10  reviewed the Department of Education awarding of an

         11  exclusive contract to the Snapple Beverage Group for

         12  vending machines in New York City schools.

         13                 My contract investigators initially

         14  suspected, and our auditors later conclusively

         15  found, that during the procurement process, and I

         16  use the word procurement lightly, there were minimal

         17  solicitation efforts and inadequate requests for

         18  proposal package, and a defective bid evaluation and

         19  selection process.

         20                 All of these findings reflected

         21  violations of the Department of Education's written

         22  policies for awarding a professional service

         23  contract.

         24                 Nevertheless, at that time, the

         25  Department asserted that it did not need to follow
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          2  its own written guidelines. It also made the bizarre

          3  claim that its procedures could be informally

          4  changed, retroactively, if they so chose.

          5                 In the wake of our Snapple review and

          6  its resulting publicity, my staff and I met with the

          7  Department of Education to propose changes to their

          8  procurement process. To be fair to the Department, a

          9  few of our recommendations were followed. For

         10  example, the Department of Education now discloses

         11  on its web site and in the City Record contracts

         12  which are being proposed as exceptions to

         13  competitive bidding.

         14                 At our suggestion, the Department

         15  also now includes a statement that it is willing to

         16  consider other proposers to perform the work and

         17  includes names of individuals to contact and dates

         18  by which the contact should be made.

         19                 In one recent case where we learned

         20  the Department's intention to award a no-bid

         21  contract to the firm KPMG, we asked the Department

         22  to reconsider that decision, which they have done. I

         23  understand the Department is now conducting a more

         24  competitive process.

         25                 While my office's oversight function
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          2  is critical, we should not have to rely on watchdog

          3  and whistle-blowers to get the Department of

          4  Education to do the right thing.

          5                 The Department must have clear rules

          6  it is required to follow. To date, it has refused to

          7  promulgate such rules.

          8                 In another recent case, as you know,

          9  and was discussed earlier, the Department of

         10  Education entered into a no-bid contract with the

         11  firm Alvarez and Marsal, ostensibly to find places

         12  to cut costs in the Department of Education's

         13  budget.

         14                 In what could only be described as

         15  sad irony for the people of New York City, A&M is

         16  charging the City a whopping $16 million for these

         17  services, including almost $500 an hour for one

         18  employee. This individual will cost the City of New

         19  York $1.9 million for 17 months of work.

         20                 The Department will argue that the

         21  savings discovered by this consultant will make up

         22  for his exorbitant salary, but there is a disturbing

         23  symbolism in a consultant hired to eliminate waste

         24  being paid almost six times the statutory salary of

         25  the Mayor, and not the dollar, but the statutory
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          2  salary that the Mayor receives.

          3                 When we first brought the issue of

          4  no-bid contracts to light in 2004, as I mentioned at

          5  the top of my testimony, the value of these

          6  contracts stood at $47 million.

          7                 In May of 2004, I recommended State

          8  legislation to make the Department subject to the

          9  same procurement rules as every other City agency.

         10                 Rather than pass a new law, elected

         11  officials in Albany encouraged the Department of

         12  Education to work in good faith with my office to

         13  resolve the problem voluntarily.

         14                 Despite the best efforts of my

         15  office, in the past two years the Department has

         16  processed approximately $27 million each year

         17  through the exceptions to competitive bidding

         18  process. The sheer number of these exceptions shows

         19  that it's time to reconsider State legislation to

         20  close those gaps.

         21                 If we don't address this problem

         22  soon, we will find ourselves back here again

         23  discussing the same problem that brought us together

         24  today. It is time now for the Department of

         25  Education to come up with a set of formal rules to
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          2  ensure that contracts are fairly and transparently

          3  bid.

          4                 New Yorkers have a right to expect

          5  that billions of their dollars are being spent

          6  without favoritism and with an identifiable and

          7  documented process. And I'll continue as Comptroller

          8  to work with the Council in any way possible to

          9  bring about the necessary reforms to ensure

         10  accountability at the Department of Education and

         11  other City agencies.

         12                 Mr. Chairman, the one thing in

         13  listening to the comments, and I guess it was

         14  Counsel to the Department of Education who said that

         15  this is different than any other City agency and

         16  should not fall within the PPB rules, and really,

         17  you know, whether they would, they continue to move

         18  in the direction of putting together policies and

         19  guidelines that they should follow.

         20                 For an agency of that size to not

         21  have written guidelines that they follow, to hide

         22  behind whether it's a State agency or a City agency

         23  when in fact the law has been changed partially

         24  because the oversight mechanism was still met as a

         25  board, in spite of Mayoral control, and if nobody
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          2  polices the Chancellor and his people, they continue

          3  to do what they want. They continue to do that. And

          4  to say it is different than any other agency, and

          5  that's why we need the flexibility simply is false,

          6  and is really hiding behind our children in so many

          7  ways and using them as a shield against

          8  accountability, and that is wrong.

          9                 So, as I said, we have tried to work

         10  with the Department of Education to cut down on

         11  their use of these contracts. They have reduced, as

         12  far as what we've seen, they have reduced the

         13  number, however, those loopholes still remain, and

         14  we need to close those loopholes entirely.

         15                 So, the emergency situation existed,

         16  there are procedures within PPB rules and within

         17  City Charter to allow for emergencies and allow for

         18  rapid actions, so that's not an excuse.

         19                 This is a question of transparency

         20  and accountability. Nothing more.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, Mr.

         22  Comptroller, let me just say, I want to thank you

         23  for coming in and giving testimony concerning this

         24  very important matter. In fact, we do expect you as

         25  a City Comptroller to give it to us straight. And in
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          2  fact, in listening to your testimony in which I have

          3  in front of me, it appears that you have given us a

          4  straight and narrow analysis of the situation that

          5  exists with DOE, as far as non-competitive contracts

          6  and with A&M, just as you did in 2004, along with

          7  myself as the Chair of the Contracts Committee,

          8  regarding the Snapple contracts that were entered

          9  into by the City of New York and the Department of

         10  Education.

         11                 So, I appreciate you coming in and

         12  giving testimony. And in fact, I heard you last

         13  night on New York 1, where you indicated that you

         14  felt and that a change in the law was necessary as

         15  far as DOE contracts when the moderator asked you

         16  the question and you so mentioned that in the

         17  testimony that you sought a change in the law in

         18  2004, and that you will continue to do that. And I,

         19  as the Chair of the Education Committee, am going to

         20  be communicating directly with the State Legislature

         21  to change the law so that they will be at the same

         22  level of any other City agency.

         23                 As you heard me say, that the City's

         24  fiscal year is July 1 to June 30th, and we allocate

         25  money to the Department of Education, the same as we
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          2  do every single agency, and the fact that years ago,

          3  years ago schools were closed during the summer,

          4  schools are not closed in the summer now and

          5  principals are there 12 months a year.

          6                 So, as far as them following the same

          7  procurement processes in order to get the goods and

          8  services that they need, in my opinion, as a

          9  layperson, there is no excuse.

         10                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Mr. Chairman,

         11  whether as a layperson or as Comptroller of the City

         12  of New York, there is no excuse, and the Department

         13  of Education is not above the law, even though they

         14  act as if they are.

         15                 And I look forward to working with

         16  you. I know the Chair of Education for the Assembly

         17  was here also and listened to testimony, and is

         18  quite concerned also about the issue. So, I look

         19  forward to working with you and the other members of

         20  the Committee, as well as the State Legislature, to

         21  look at closing those loopholes in this legislative

         22  session.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me turn to

         24  my colleagues, Council Member Lew Fidler of

         25  Brooklyn.

                                                            133

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chairman. And Comptroller Thompson, welcome. Thank

          4  you for your testimony. I sat here somewhat quietly

          5  taking all of this in, and as unaccustomed as I am

          6  to being quiet.

          7                 I am astonished by the number in your

          8  testimony for the consultant who is paid $500 an

          9  hour earning 1.9 million himself or herself over a

         10  17-month period. You know, I'm just a humble country

         11  mathematician, but assuming that that employee, that

         12  consultant, who may or may not even have been

         13  exclusive, I don't know. He could have been working

         14  other contracts as well, assuming that, he did not

         15  take a week off for vacation, that mean that they

         16  billed 52 hours a week. That's astonishing, and

         17  perhaps even defies credibility. I mean, someone

         18  familiar with the legal practice in terms of

         19  billable hours and billable time, you know, we all

         20  have these ethical dilemmas about whether you bill

         21  for the hour that you're walking down the street and

         22  thinking about it. I suggest that this consultant is

         23  probably billing us for breathing.

         24                 That's just, it's amazing. And that

         25  number goes up to 57 hours a week, if there was
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          2  vacation time at all of any consequence, maybe even

          3  60 hours a week. So, that number just absolutely

          4  freaks me out.

          5                 As Comptroller, do you have the same

          6  audit power over DOE that you have over other City

          7  agencies?

          8                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Yes, we do.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: You know, we

         10  asked questions, my colleagues asked questions of

         11  the Deputy Chancellor about the work product that

         12  A&M provided to the Chancellor, and I'm just curious

         13  whether or not any of their fact-finding was shared

         14  with your office?

         15                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER GRAHAM: No, it was

         16  not.

         17                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: I mean, one of

         18  the other things in the contract that really

         19  astonished us is, if I remember correctly, and in

         20  our discussions internally, is the lack of

         21  deliverables, the lack of specified deliverables in

         22  that contract for the huge amount that was being

         23  charged. In fact, at the end what were the specific

         24  deliverables that they're supposed to do, and there

         25  really were very few. So, it was a very strange
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          2  contract also.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Did I also

          4  read correctly, and I may have misunderstood this,

          5  that A&M got a broker's of 15 percent for goods and

          6  services that were purchased?

          7                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER GRAHAM: I really

          8  don't recall that, I'd have to check.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: All right. I

         10  think I saw that in the briefing materials. If so, I

         11  just kind of wonder whether or not that's any kind

         12  of standard practice.

         13                 My comment, you know, in follow-up to

         14  the question is to ask about whether they shared

         15  that information with you. I very much want to be

         16  associated with the comments that Council Member

         17  Yassky made earlier.

         18                 I understand what they were doing.

         19  And in fact, while the ends don't justify the means,

         20  in terms of process, you know, the fact that this

         21  appears to be a net gain for the taxpayers of the

         22  City of New York, hopefully the kids who are being

         23  educated is a good thing. And, you know, I support

         24  that, and I know as do you, I support Mayoral

         25  control. But control doesn't imply that people are
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          2  beyond question, and that other people don't get to

          3  be involved and consulted, and if the justification

          4  for using an outside consultant is, well, they have

          5  no vested interest and they're upset of outside eyes

          6  that can come in and help us along the way to make

          7  change, then I would suggest that that also applies

          8  to the Comptroller of the City of New York, and to

          9  the Education Committee of the New York City

         10  Council, that the work product that A&M provided

         11  might be shared with all of us, so that we can view

         12  it as well and decide whether or not we agree that

         13  the recommendations that are left on the wayside

         14  might not have some merit, if properly implemented,

         15  and that we be part of the process. And I would

         16  think that the Comptroller's Office of the City of

         17  New York, with your expertise and procurement, your

         18  expertise in contracting, and your personal

         19  expertise in education, might have well been a party

         20  to the materials that A&M provided so that we might

         21  have an additional set of eyes. It's kind of like

         22  chicken soup, it can't hurt.

         23                 So, I just kind of wonder why DOE is

         24  so resistant to that kind of sharing and information

         25  and hiding under this intra-agency notion that this

                                                            137

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  consulting firm in effect is part of DOE.

          3                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: I would happen

          4  to agree with you. I don't understand a failure

          5  particularly from one public agency to a legislative

          6  body or another City agency, the failure to sit down

          7  and share, the failure to have another set of eyes

          8  take a look at information that's being developed.

          9                 In the end, you know, it is back to

         10  the only one set of ideas are the best ideas, and I

         11  think you and I and so many others usually

         12  understand that is wrong, that ideas, while they may

         13  have good ideas and good recommendations, can always

         14  be improved upon and modified and, you know, can

         15  serve to benefit at times maybe even more than one

         16  agency.

         17                 So, I would agree with you,

         18  Councilman.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Just in

         20  conclusion, I know that Mayoral control of the

         21  Department of Education is subject to review, I

         22  think it runs out shortly, in another year or two,

         23  and, you know, clearly there are things, if they're

         24  not changed before that, have to be changed. God

         25  forbid they share some of this information with

                                                            138

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  parents. The policy that DOE has that, you know,

          3  school administrators can't talk to elected

          4  officials or parents without first clearing it

          5  through some guru at Tweed is outrageous, and I

          6  would hope that this Committee would look into that

          7  policy at a future date.

          8                 I think it just, you know, again just

          9  goes back to the difference between control and

         10  dictatorship.

         11                 I mean, it is absurd to think that

         12  other parties who have a vested interest in the

         13  education of children of this City have nothing to

         14  say or should have nothing to say, or shouldn't be

         15  entitled to the basic information upon which to form

         16  what they want to say. And, so, I hope that we do

         17  reconsider the State legislation that we referred

         18  to. And if not now, certainly at the time the

         19  Mayoral control is revisited.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you,

         22  Council member. Council Member John Liu.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Comptroller.

         25                 This was prior to your scheduled
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          2  arrival at today's hearing, but the officials in the

          3  Department of Education actually talked about how

          4  you had approved these A&M contracts, as they were

          5  implying that you were in full agreement with going

          6  ahead with this contract. So, I just wanted to give

          7  you an opportunity to address those -- I mean, I

          8  think, Mr. Chairman, correct me if I'm wrong, I

          9  think I'm fairly accurate in characterizing some of

         10  their comments with regard to the Comptroller and

         11  the fact that the Comptroller signed off on this

         12  particular contract.

         13                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Well, it's hard

         14  to say we signed off and approved the contract when

         15  we can't disagree or block the contract. And if a

         16  contract comes to us for registration, we have no

         17  way of saying no to it.

         18                 So, do we register the contract? Yes,

         19  we did. We have no way of being able to block it.

         20                 This happened to be one of the few

         21  instances on this one that the Chancellor did call

         22  ahead of time and didn't, while without providing

         23  specifics indicated there was a contract that was

         24  coming along. But in the end, once we saw specifics

         25  on it, we had major problems with it. At the same
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          2  point, there is nothing we can do, which is one of

          3  the, you know, if you look at the difference between

          4  City and State, between the City and State

          5  Comptroller, the State Comptroller gets the

          6  opportunity to make, or to be able to disagree to

          7  talk about the things to talk about. You know, you

          8  can't do this as a non-competitive contract, you

          9  would have to bid it. We don't have that luxury.

         10  And, you know, as I said, it's unfortunately one of

         11  the things within the City Charter that where you

         12  see problems, once we started to break this contract

         13  down, look at the exorbitant amounts, it's not just

         14  the top person getting a million-nine. There are

         15  other individuals who for a 17-month period of time

         16  will earn in excess of $1 million working on this

         17  contract. It is outrageous.

         18                 And then the question becomes,

         19  couldn't it have been done cheaper and in other

         20  places or better by other firms, however the

         21  progression of all of this was set up so that

         22  wouldn't occur also.

         23                 So, I believe that they started on a

         24  pro bono basis, and then had a smaller contract from

         25  DOE. And then in the end, of course, when they put

                                                            141

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  forward a larger contract, DOE says they're the only

          3  ones who could do it, because they're the only ones

          4  who have the experience in working with us. There is

          5  something wrong in the entire process.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, I would

          7  absolutely agree, and that's why I thought it was

          8  important that we get your comments on it, and the

          9  fact that even though DOE claims that the

         10  Comptroller's Office signed off on it, in fact, the

         11  Comptroller's Office is doing their statutory duty

         12  and that there is no judgment afforded to the

         13  Comptroller's Office in this case, and that's

         14  exactly the problem that we're dealing with.

         15                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: The unfortunate

         16  thing is they could sit here and say that about

         17  almost any contract regardless of, because we can't

         18  reject the registration of the contract, or in some

         19  instances they have moved forward without forwarding

         20  contracts to us, which we also have major problems

         21  with and it's happened in the past on a number of

         22  occasions.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well,

         25  Comptroller, let me just say to you, you just sort
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          2  of summarized this and said what I had said when you

          3  weren't here, when they said that A&M was uniquely

          4  qualified and no one else had that. And I said,

          5  well, of course if you allow someone to come in and

          6  get a foothold in for two years and to work

          7  specifically in your shop and then you said they're

          8  uniquely qualified, you know, that's a set-up, in my

          9  opinion. You know, that's like watching the movie,

         10  The Sting, you know, where you set it up, it has to

         11  go a certain way.

         12                 And, in fact, when I was asking them

         13  about what did their advertisement in the City

         14  Record state? Were they asking for bids? They said,

         15  yes, they were asking for bids and Mr. Ross said, he

         16  said, Mr. Ross, the Director of Contracts said, it

         17  said we're getting ready to enter into a contract

         18  with A&M, but if you want to bid, you can bid.

         19                 Well, I said, you know, as a

         20  layperson, knowing that you're telling me that

         21  you're going to enter into a contract with A&M,

         22  you're basically telling me, you know,

         23  realistically, we don't want you to bid. And I asked

         24  them, and they responded, you know, how many

         25  responses did they get to the advertisements in
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          2  public record, and they said zero.

          3                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Of course,

          4  because I'm sure no other firm was interested in a

          5  $15 million contract.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, thank you.

          7                 And let me turn to my colleague,

          8  Oliver Koppell.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr.

         10  Comptroller, I appreciate your answer to my

         11  colleague, Councilman Fidler, that you do have the

         12  power to audit the Department of Education. What I

         13  would be interested in your doing, you not only

         14  audit the numbers, but you audit the performance as

         15  well, do you not?

         16                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Absolutely.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I would

         18  be very interested in your looking at, at some

         19  appropriate, but hopefully prompt time, the, number

         20  one, the claim that this outfit A&M saved $89

         21  million because of their recommendations in the

         22  first six months of the calendar Year 2006. That's

         23  what they say, they saved $89 million.

         24                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Yes, we'd be

         25  happy to take a look at that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, I'd like

          3  you to indicate that. I mean, obviously it will take

          4  some investigation.

          5                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: One thing, just

          6  to give you a little history, one of the past claims

          7  that we took a look at, and I think if you go back

          8  to 2005, it was an area of serious disagreement

          9  between my office and the Chancellor. The

         10  Chancellor, I believe back in 2004, and up through

         11  2005, indicated that he had found savings within the

         12  budget somewhere in the vicinity of $250 million,

         13  and those dollars were put back in the classroom. We

         14  took a look at that and I think we were able, trying

         15  to give them as much credit as possible, the best

         16  that we were able to do was find about $130 million

         17  that possibly had gone back to the classroom. The

         18  question of where the other $120 million was we

         19  couldn't find, and the question that we asked then,

         20  if dollars were put back into the classroom during

         21  that year, then why did the number of teachers go

         22  down within the system? So, if you had pushed

         23  additional dollars back into the system, where were

         24  they?

         25                 And we were told, I think the way it
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          2  played out in public at that point was the

          3  Department of Education had indicated to us that we

          4  didn't understand the budget, in spite of the fact

          5  that I believe they had overspent their budget by

          6  the prior year by about $115 million but we didn't

          7  understand the budget. So, we would be happy to take

          8  a look. I think you should probably prepare yourself

          9  for a similar response, though.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, they

         11  made exactly the same claim this morning. Deputy

         12  Chancellor Grimm said exactly what you just said.

         13  She said $89 million was saved and therefore we were

         14  able to hire 313 teachers. She was specific. I think

         15  it was 313, but that order of magnitude.

         16                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: We would be

         17  happy to take a look.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: That's

         19  question one.

         20                 But I have a second question which I

         21  think may be even more important; and that is, that

         22  I asked whether under this contract ordinary

         23  day-to-day management functions were assumed by A&M,

         24  because my feeling is that that's highly

         25  inappropriate. And that's transferring from civil
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          2  servants or people who are paid government-type

          3  salaries to very high-paid consultants, functions

          4  that ought to be taken over by, that ought to be

          5  assumed or conducted by ordinary DOE employees. The

          6  purpose of a consultant is to come in on a temporary

          7  basis perhaps and look at system changes, but not do

          8  day-to-day management. Because, you know, day-to-day

          9  management functions are supposed to be done by

         10  government people at government salaries, and under

         11  government supervision.

         12                 And, Deputy Chancellor Grimm again

         13  said, no, no, no, they don't do any day-to-day

         14  regular management. But then I pointed out that in

         15  the contract, actually helped by the staff of the

         16  Committee, to give them credit, that the contract

         17  itself said we assume day-to-day management of

         18  certain functions, indeed ironically they were

         19  functions of the Deputy Chancellor, after she said

         20  very proudly, oh, no functions of mine were taken

         21  over, but then the very document says specifically

         22  that certain supervisory functions over management

         23  and budget issues very specifically lined out there

         24  were being assumed by employees of A&M.

         25                 So, I think that's another question
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          2  for your auditors to inquire into. What functions

          3  are being assumed by these high-paid consultants?

          4  Are they indeed the kind of functions that a

          5  consultant ought to do?

          6                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: We would be

          7  happy to take a look at that also.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I think a

          9  report to the Committee on those two issues, if not

         10  others, is more than appropriate, and would allow us

         11  to better evaluate this contract.

         12                 Because my big concern, Mr. Chairman,

         13  is in this area, as in other areas maybe much

         14  smaller, what we're doing here is basically

         15  circumventing rules with respect to employees of the

         16  City. And I will say it, I'm concerned even of

         17  former DOE employees who leave, principals and

         18  assistant principals and teachers, who got paid a

         19  City salary, now they leave, they become a

         20  consultant, they somehow get outside the track, they

         21  not only get a pension, but they then are paid an

         22  additional salary, and that additional -- it's not

         23  called a salary, an additional fee -- and often

         24  times that fee is considerably higher than what they

         25  earned in their regular DOE job, and that concerns
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          2  me a great deal. And this may be an example of that

          3  at a much bigger level.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

          5                 Finally, a follow-up question by my

          6  colleague John Liu. And I indicated that we have a

          7  hearing immediately after that, so I need to close,

          8  wrap up, and he said, but, Chairman, it's my meeting

          9  at the next hearing. So I said, well, you have a

         10  right then, John Liu.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: No, no, I mean we

         12  are going to start the Transportation hearing within

         13  a matter of minutes, so I do want to thank the

         14  people who are here for that hearing, for their

         15  patience.

         16                 Just hopefully a quick question, Mr.

         17  Comptroller.

         18                 Even in a system with as large a

         19  budget that the DOE has, an $89 million savings is

         20  impressive. That's what they claim. Well, my

         21  question is that does it really take hiring a

         22  consultant millions of dollars to find a savings of

         23  that much?

         24                 I can understand if a City or an

         25  agency hires a consultant and then they're kind of
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          2  like delving into depths of the details and trying

          3  to use every expertise to squeeze out extra dollars

          4  of savings. But it doesn't seem like $89 million is

          5  really squeezing out every penny of savings. $89

          6  million seems to be a lot of fat. So, should it take

          7  hiring a consultant? I mean, what is the management

          8  of the agency there for?

          9                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: I'm not going

         10  to say that consultants can't be helpful when, you

         11  know, who have the opportunity to take half a step

         12  back and look at your operation and make

         13  recommendations for change. At times that's good.

         14                 I think if you look at DOE, if you

         15  had gotten rid, which as the claims continue, made

         16  the old bureaucracy, if you blew it up and by and

         17  large have started again, you should have started

         18  with a leaner operation and a different operation.

         19  As I said, though, at the same point, it doesn't

         20  mean that a consultant from time to time who stands

         21  back and looks at other best practices, hopefully

         22  around the country, shouldn't be helpful in making

         23  recommendations for change. So, hard to judge from a

         24  bit of a distance.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And I will take
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          2  from those comments that while the consultant may

          3  deserve some credit for planning some cost savings,

          4  they probably don't deserve the credit for the

          5  entire $89 million.

          6                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: We'll try and

          7  let you know.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you. Thank

          9  you, Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Mr. Comptroller,

         11  let me just thank you and the Deputy Comptroller on

         12  agreeing to coming in and giving us testimony that

         13  we always want to hear from you because we know that

         14  you're going to give it to us straight, an objective

         15  viewpoint, as far as the Chief Fiscal Officer of the

         16  City of New York. You are the sole trustee of all of

         17  the pensions, which are billions and billions of

         18  dollars, and the main person that we turn to in

         19  order to get an opinion with respects to the City's

         20  budget, as far as procurement and other matters.

         21                 And, so, continue to do what you do,

         22  and understanding that this particular matter I know

         23  that you're going to continue to look into, and we

         24  are also. So, I look forward to working with you now

         25  and in the future.
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          2                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: Mr. Chairman,

          3  it's always a pleasure working with you and the

          4  other members of the Committee. I look forward to,

          5  as you said, holding the Department of Education up

          6  to continued scrutiny and accountability in the

          7  future. Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Chairman?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Finally, Mr.

         11  Chairman. I don't mean to, I don't want to put all

         12  the thing on him, he's not the sole trustee like the

         13  State Comptroller.

         14                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON: I wish I was,

         15  but I'm not.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, thank you.

         17                 Now, we're going to hear from Patrick

         18  J. Sullivan from Class Size Matters, and Susan

         19  Crawford, District 3, The Right To Read Project. And

         20  this is our final panel, which we're going to hear

         21  testimony.  As members of the public, you're

         22  entitled to three minutes, so please come forward.

         23  If you have any testimony to present, please give it

         24  to the Sergeant-At-Arms. Thank you.

         25                 Mr. Sullivan from Class Size Matters.
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          2  You may begin, sir. Press the button, please.

          3                 MR. SULLIVAN: Thank you. I would like

          4  to read a statement on behalf of Leonie Haimson, the

          5  Executive Director of Class Size Matters.

          6                 Yesterday I received the results of

          7  the first set of my son's Princeton Review interim

          8  assessments. They were not stellar. I was quite

          9  worried until I received the following e-mail from

         10  the Parent Coordinator at my school, sent to all 3rd

         11  grade parents:

         12                 "You should not get stressed out if

         13  your child who has just received a good report card

         14  has a score on the Princeton Review that isn't very

         15  good or in some cases downright lousy. These

         16  assessments are often not connected to the ELA or

         17  math state standardized testing at all. We have seen

         18  this happen before and before and before."

         19                 My parent coordinator, herself a DOE

         20  employee is not alone in her views. We're spending

         21  millions of dollars of precious funds to expand

         22  interim assessments to all grades, with the main

         23  affect apparently of worrying more parents and kids

         24  and convince them that they're going to fail, while

         25  providing them with no useful information to help
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          2  them do better.

          3                 Princeton Review is not the only

          4  no-bid contract. We've heard much testimony today

          5  about A&M. Unfortunately, the experience in St.

          6  Louis shows A&M has a history of poor performance.

          7  St. Louis, class sizes were expanded, special

          8  education program services were in chaos, teacher

          9  morale plummeted and parents felt even more

         10  disenfranchised than before. Meanwhile, the money

         11  spent on consultants tripled from the number of

         12  administrators paid in excess of $100,000

         13  quadrupled.

         14                 Here is a description from Bill

         15  Purdy, currently a St. Louis school board member,

         16  about what happened under A&M's regime:

         17                 "... the schools were put into the

         18  hands of a New York management consulting firm with

         19  no prior educational experience under a $10 million

         20  contract."

         21                 Our contract is roughly double that.

         22                 "...Consultants built a high-salary

         23  centralized bureaucracy and fired hundreds of

         24  dedicated employees through outsourcing of services.

         25  They also hired multiple expensive public relations
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          2  and law firms..."

          3                 In June of '04, the State Auditor,

          4  Claire McCaskill, who is now the Senator-elect of

          5  Missouri, issued a report detailing many of the

          6  problems with A&M's management, cost control and

          7  financial improprieties.

          8                 I quote: "Despite reductions to the

          9  general operating budget in the current, the

         10  District's financial conditions remains poor. Not

         11  surprisingly, under A&M test scores further

         12  declined, and in '05, the schools became only

         13  provisionally accredited by the State.

         14                 Last July the State created a

         15  committee to investigate the school systems

         16  substandard performance."

         17                 Finally, while it's not a contract

         18  that is being bid out or being granted by the

         19  Department of Education, I would ask the Committee

         20  to consider the decision by the Mayor to grant an

         21  exclusive no-bid contract on Randall's Island

         22  playing fields to 20 private schools.

         23                 Under this proposal, each private

         24  school would pay $143,000 for three fields for three

         25  hours after school. Only 20 schools were selected,
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          2  and there were no transparency nor competitive

          3  bidding.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, thank you

          6  for coming in and giving testimony on behalf of

          7  Leonie Haimson, the leader of Class Size Matters.

          8                 Susan Crawford, the Right To Read

          9  Project, District 3.

         10                 MS. CRAWFORD: Thank you, Chairman

         11  Jackson. I, too, want to extend my congratulations

         12  on your ascendance to the seat, and especially on

         13  following the recommendation made by the panel at

         14  this table at least three or four years ago to your

         15  predecessor to please follow the money.

         16                 From the ground level there is much

         17  talk earlier about A&M being at the ground level.

         18  Well, parents are at the ground level, and I can

         19  tell you that just as two examples of how the money

         20  is being ill-spent by this DOE because there is no

         21  oversight and there is no deliberative process, and

         22  you are our default, Board of Education.

         23                 At the middle school where I was

         24  previously PA President, where I shared in the past

         25  85 percent score at level 102, in the past year, the
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          2  AIS money was withdrawn from the school. That stands

          3  for Academic Intervention Services. If 85 percent

          4  are scoring at level one and two, you would think

          5  they would need some academic intervention services.

          6                 Another issue is reading programs. As

          7  you know, this is something I am devoting my time to

          8  especially. I have spoken to the Chancellor in the

          9  past about how four out of ten children need extra

         10  help with reading, they specifically implemented the

         11  Wilson Program. Two years later, materials are still

         12  sitting in boxes. They are only being used for

         13  special ed kids, occasionally for out of special ed

         14  kids. Most of the struggling readers are not in

         15  special ed. I've shared that in the past before your

         16  predecessor's panels as well.

         17                 I'd like to just share some questions

         18  here in all this testimony, that you all might ask

         19  yourselves, why is the DOE using A&M to restructure

         20  its restructuring? Why is this happening? Inquiring

         21  parents would like to know.

         22                 Why is there not much more governance

         23  oversight, input and insight into all of these

         24  contracts?

         25                 If A&M, much focus was spent on St.
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          2  Louis, but if they're overseeing New Orleans, please

          3  let's keep in mind they converted all their schools

          4  to Charter schools.

          5                 And finally, I would ask, in view of

          6  the CFE settlement, I would ask the City Council,

          7  I'm sorry Ms. Nolan is gone, but I will ask her as

          8  well through the Legislature, to please consider a

          9  moratorium on any destruction, sale or conversion to

         10  other uses of any school buildings in New York City

         11  until further notice, to block the $359 million

         12  designated for construction of Charter schools in

         13  the current budget, and to also establish a

         14  moratorium on establishment of any more Charter

         15  schools until a cost benefit analysis on them can be

         16  done throughout the City and the State.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, let me

         19  thank both of you for coming and giving testimony,

         20  and I appreciate your comments. I asked my staff to

         21  make note and touch base with you concerning the

         22  issue of the Wilson Reading Program and the fact

         23  that you said two years after they adopted such, the

         24  books are still sitting in boxes. That is totally

         25  unacceptable, so we will be following up on that,
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          2  with not only you to get more information, but with

          3  the Chancellor and appropriate staff on that

          4  particular matter.

          5                 I know that DOE has representatives

          6  here, so I'm sure that they have taken note on that

          7  also.

          8                 Concerning the issue of the Randall's

          9  Island, I know there was a hearing on that by my

         10  colleague Council Member Helen Foster who chairs the

         11  Parks Committee. And I used to sit on the Parks

         12  Committee, but during that hearing, which was a

         13  couple of hours long, I sat through the entire

         14  hearing myself with testimony on that, and I am

         15  hoping that the parties will come together and reach

         16  consensus on ensuring that our children have access

         17  to those fields, during the period of time on which

         18  the contract, the proposed contract with the

         19  schools, the private schools are being referred to.

         20                 So, I look forward to working with

         21  you as advocates in the field to ensure access to

         22  our students in every venue, and to ensure that they

         23  receive their best education that we can provide in

         24  New York City.

         25                 MS. CRAWFORD: I just want to add, I
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          2  did follow-up with the Chancellor the year after I

          3  first spoke to him about the Wilson program, and he

          4  said, well, we really don't have enough money. So,

          5  that may be a place where that $17 million could

          6  have gone.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you very

          8  much for coming.

          9                 MR. SULLIVAN: Chairman Jackson?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes, sir.

         11                 MR. SULLIVAN: I do note that the

         12  Parks Department did not appear at those hearings,

         13  and I hope in the future that they will come and

         14  justify their actions.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I think that the

         16  Parks Chair said, Council Member Diane Foster, said

         17  she wanted to hear from the public first, and there

         18  was going to be a subsequent hearing where the

         19  agency representatives are going to come forward.

         20  So, I am looking forward to that hearing also.

         21                 MR. SULLIVAN: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: With that, I

         23  want to thank everyone for coming in and

         24  participating in this hearing. And especially I want

         25  to thank the Committee, Education Committee staff
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          2  that have worked hard today in preparing, and myself

          3  and my other colleagues, in preparation for this

          4  hearing, the Counsel to the Committee, Scheherazade

          5  Salimi, who is sitting to my right, Jan Atwell, the

          6  Legislative Policy Analyst, Jennifer Culp,

          7  Legislative policy Analyst, Regina Poreda-Ryan, our

          8  Financial Policy Analyst, and Anthony Hogrebe, our

          9  Press Officer. Let me just tell you, I could not be

         10  sitting here today without all of them working on

         11  behalf of all of the members of the City Council of

         12  New York. And so I thank them here personally and

         13  quickly, and all of my colleagues for hanging in for

         14  this long hearing, which started at 10:00 and ended

         15  approximately two and a half hours later. With that,

         16  I'll call this meeting adjourned.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 1:23 p.m.)
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